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About us

Tungsten West plc (‘The Group’) is a London AlM-listed owner and operator of the historic Hemerdon tungsten and tin mine located near
Piymouth in South Devon, England. The Hemerdon Mine is estimated to be the second largest tungsten resource in the Western World, and an
increasingly important project with demand for critical and strategic metals, including tungsten and tin, forecast to grow in all its end-use sectors.

The Group's business plan also includes the selling of high-quality aggregates that are produced as a secondary product from the mineral
processing facility at the Hemerdon Mine. The Group has formed a specialist business unit, Aggregates West, to manage the screening and
sale of aggregates, which is expected to generate additional stable cash flows over the life of the tungsten mine and beyond.

Tungsten West is an environmentally and socially focused mining company which aims to limit any negative impact of its operation to its
stakeholders. In order to achieve this we have, throughout the financial year, engaged with key stakeholders to understand their views and
consider how we can address their needs.

The Group had £3.4 million in cash at 31 March 2023, and on 8 June 2023 successfully raised £6.95 million via the placing of convertible loan
notes and £0.2 million via an open offer. In addition the Company may offer up a further convertible loan note facility of up to £2.0 million. The
investment will provide working capital as the project team focuses on its work with the Environment Agency to secure the Mineral Processing
Facility permit and complete full project funding.
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Our Purpose, Values and Culture

Our mission is to restore mining and mineral processing
operations at the Hemerdon Mine, restarting production
and providing a globally significant reserve of essential
metals that bear significant strategic importance for both
the UK and the Westem World.

Our unwavering commitment to sustainability drives every
decision we make, carefully considering the well-being of
our local communities and the environment. The health
and safety of our employees remains paramount. We
strive to make a positive impact while unlocking the
immense potential of this extraordinary mine.

Our culture drives us forward as we navigate the transi-
tion from a construction project to a mining and mineral
processing operation. Creating a collaborative workplace
is core to our business, and we pride ourselves on building
an environment where employee values and visions are
aligned with the Company. We believe in the power of
working together, exchanging information and knowledge
across all departments. Embracing a critical problem-solv-
ing approach is encouraged among our employees, espe-
cially in the face of the demanding inflationary environ-
ment, which requires our project to adapt and evolve.

l Underpinning our mission and culture are our values l
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Our Strategy

Neil Gawthorpe, our CEO, plays a pivotal role in driving our strategic progress and value creation throughout the organisation.

As we reflect on our critical path, obtaining the Mineral Processing Permit, being granted the remaining planning permission and securing long-
term funding emerge as our primary short-term goals. Consequently, Neil and the Board have channelled all efforts towards achieving these

milestones.

However, it is essential to emphasise that our long-term strategy remains unchanged. We are committed to creating a safe working
environment, ensuring the successful execution of the project, and advocating for sustainable and environmentally friendly practices. These

elements continue to shape our vision for the future.

Monitoring and measuring strategic goals is important to the Company. It provides a clear understanding of the progress made towards
achieving those goals and enables effective decision-making and course correction when necessary.

By regularly tracking and assessing strategic goals, the Group can identify any deviations from the intended path and take proactive steps to
realign efforts and economic resources. This monitoring process helps to keep everyone focused and accountable, ensuring that actions are
aligned with the broader, long-term strategy. Additionally, it provides valuable insights into the effectiveness of different initiatives and enables

the identification of areas of improvement or potential risks.

Safe working environment

We measure how safe our
working environment is through
number of LTI (Lost Time Injury)
and MTI (Medical Treatment
Injury) free days.

Project execution

We measure by providing depart-
mental budgets vs actual costs
spent. The CFO and the Board
scrutinise the analysis on a
weekly to monthly basis.

Promote sustainable and
environmentally friendly
practices

The Group has aligned its ESG
framework with nine UN Sustain-
able Development Goals, all with
individual objectives which we
can measure against.
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Chairman’s Statement

Overview of FY2023

| am pleased to report on the Group's audited results for the year ended 31 March 2023. The financial year began with the Board implementing
a pause to the project so that the management team could evaluate alternative approaches to restarting mining operations, as the Group faced
material inflationary pressures and uncertainty over costs. Despite this being a difficult decision, the Group prevented an unsustainable leve! of
capital commitments and exposure to potentially unviable high operating costs.

In July 2022, development was restarted with the Group committing to detailed engineering design and re-commencing construction based on a
new development plan (the "Plan®). The Group invited its preferred funding partner to independently scrutinise and review the new plan which
culminated in a non-binding term sheet that would fully fund the restart.

Due to the changes required under the new Plan, the Group's funding partner requested an update to the Feasibility Study of March 2021.
Within six months, the Group released the summary of results from its updated Feasibility Study (2022 FS update”). The quality of work
produced in the 2022 update is a refiection of the dedication and efforts by all employees involved for what was effectively a full re-run of the
2021 Feasibility Study, including a review of the re-engineering process and upgrade of the flowsheet which has significantly reduced the Capex
and Opex of the project. This was a significant task and has demonstrated a robust and economically viable case for the mine.

Some of the key highlights from the 2022 FS update were:
o A post-tax Net Present Value ("NPV")sx of £297 million (base case) with an Internal Rate of Retum ("IRR") of 25%
e An Upside case post-tax NPV(sx, of £415 million with an IRR of 32%
o Life of Mine (“LOM") of 27 years and an annual average steady-state mining rate of 3.5 million tonnes (“Mt") per annum

As outlined in the Company's announcement of 19 December 2022, we were also able to report an update to the 2021 Hemerdon deposit
Mineral Resource Estimate (“MRE") due to changes in costs and processing assumptions, affecting the breakeven cut-off grade. The Group
reported a 60% increase in ore tonnage and 10% increase in contained metal from previous 2021 Ore, taking the Hemerdon Ore Reserve to
101.2Mt. As a result the Hemerdon deposit is estimated to be the second largest reported CRIRSCO standard tungsten reserve globally. The lift
in both the Ore Reserve and Mineral Resource could only be achieved from the work that has been undertaken this year as part of our work on
updating the Feasibility Study, cost saving initiatives and operating efficiencies across the business.

Throughout the year, the Group continued to engage with their long-lead capital equipment suppliers, which included placing an order for the
new semi-mobile primary and secondary crushing circuit which is being supplied by MO Group (Metso-Outotec of Finland). The seven ore
sorters required for the plant upgrade have been delivered to the Hemerdon Mine. The construction of new screens and vibrating feeders
provided by Vibramech was completed and these have been delivered to the Hemerdon Mine.

Inside our Mineral Processing Facility (‘MPF"), a number of enhancements and upgrades have been taking place, designed to increase
efficiency, reduce future downtime and reduce future maintenance, all of which were key factors that caused the previous operator to incur
significant downtime. This enabled the refinery and magnetic separation end of the plant to be commissioned in April 2023 and produce
approximately 50 tonnes of tin and tungsten concentrate from materials left by the previous operator.

Sales of aggregates continued until October 2022 when the Group ceased its production of aggregates from barren material left by the previous
operator. The primary goal was to always demonstrate the ability to establish a market for the product, and aggregates production will
recommence as the mineral processing ramp up completes.

Safety and health continued to be our number one priority on site and to help champion our safety and ESG principles, SHEQ (Safety, Health,
Environmental and Quality) captains were appointed internally. Team members across all departments were invited to apply for these roles who
felt that could utilise their intimate knowledge of their job roles in their respective departments. This was an important change for Tungsten
West, as we moved towards embedding a culture of best practice across all departments, rather than having one central site ‘S&H
administration’.

Despite all the efforts during the year to ensure permitting and construction could run in parallel, it has now become apparent following investor
and lender feedback that this is not the case due to potential design changes required to achieve pemitting. The Group needs to secure the
mineral processing facility permit in order to obtain the finance required to complete the plant rebuild and commence production. As a
consequence, the Company undertook a strategic review, and, with the continued risk surrounding volatile energy prices and a more
conservative lending approach, it announced a number of cost saving initiatives to ensure the project could continue.

To allow enough time to finalise the full project funding process, all non-core project construction activities ceased, with recommencement to
begin when the exact design requirements necessary for obtaining the Mineral Processing Facility were clarified. A review of staffing
requirements inevitably followed which led to redundancies post year-end. It is never easy to go through a redundancy process, especially given
the high aspirations and goals of this Company, so | would like to thank all Tungsten West staff for their level of maturity and understanding
during the process.

In June 2023, the Group raised £7.2 million of new funds from issuing convertible loan notes and open offer. An additional £2.0 million notes can
be issued if required. These funds were drawn in order to finance the group through the process of obtaining the necessary permits. The cost
reduction and cash conservation measures implemented by management triggered a number of defaults under the terms of the notes. A waiver
is in place for these defaults until 31 January 2024. By 31 January 2024 the board plans to have obtained the necessary permits and as a result
additional finance.

At the end of the financial year, the Company appointed a new CEO, Neil Gawthorpe, following the resignation of Max Denning in July 2022,
and acting CEO Mark Thomson in March 2023. Max and Mark were co-founders of Tungsten West and the Board thanks them for their
significant contribution during the Company's formative years. Nigel Widdowson, CFO, resigned from the Board in August 2023. Adrian
Bougourd, Kevin Ross and Guy Edwards were appointed to the Board as Non-Executive Directors in September 2023.

The appointment of Neil brings operational and industry experience to the Senior Management and Director teams and will be an invaluable
asset to the Company during this pivotal time.

Against the backdrop of the challenges the Hemerdon Mine has faced this year, a positive development has been the release of the first ever
UK Critical Minerals Strategy. There is a real risk of the UK falling behind in the race to secure responsibly sourced critical minerals. It is
promising to see that the UK Government is starting to recognise the risks of critical mineral supply chain shocks.

4
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As a Board and Group, we feel that Hemerdon Mine has never been more important to the UK to secure and protect its critical mineral supply,
and | am confident that Hemerdon Mine will soon be producing tungsten and tin, providing a world class supply of critical minerals, essential in
both traditional applications and aiding the supply of future alternative clean energy sources.

DocuSigned by:

Dasid. (atlrr

Da BPSETECALSI...
Chairman

CEO Report

| joined Tungsten West as CEO near the end of the financial year, but | have been involved with the Group throughout the reporting period as a
consultant and advisor. | have enjoyed many years in the mining industry, both in operations and consulting, and | share the vision of our
investors, employees and Government, that Hemerdon Mine can be a strategic asset for the UK whilst creating long-term value and delivering
strong returns for shareholders.

Our project is exceptional to the UK in that we have the benefit of a pre-built world class processing plant, a pre-stripped mine and fully
permitted Mine Waste Facility ("MWF"). We are on the cusp of bringing mining back to the South-West, however, there remain some critical
milestones to be met, which all bring their own unique challenges.

Permitting

Permitting is always a significant risk for any mining project, and alongside funding risk, these are the biggest hurdies the Group must
overcome.

During the year, the Company received its MWF permit, which outlines the permitting requirements for the commencement and ongoing
monitoring of the waste activities at Hemerdon Mine.

At the time of writing, the Group is yet to obtain a draft MPF pemit. In the Company’s efforts to receive this, it is currently undertaking a series of
research and development projects which will be carried out around the historical issues of the processing plant which caused low frequency
noise. The Group is confident that the revised Plan has eliminated the issues as well as significantly mitigating the general noise impact of the
project. The Group continues to liaise with the Environment Agency (“EA") on timescales required to complete this work.

Alongside the MWF permit, the Group also received its water abstraction Licences for the open pit, Loughter Mill and Tory Pond, meaning it now
has four of the five EA permits required for restart.

As a precedent, Wolf Minerals held all necessary pemits and licences to operate the site, therefore the Group are confident that they will
resolve the historical issues with the EA and obtain the MPF permit.

Financing

Since we paused the project in July 2022, it was expected that we could operate on the basis that funding and permitting could run in parallel.
However, lender feedback has proven this to not be the case. Even though the work conducted under the 2022 FS Update led to an overall
improved project, the design changes required have impacted our ability to achieve pemitting in the timeframe initially envisaged. As such, it is
now necessary to prioritise the process of obtaining all necessary permits required for funding. The updated timeline is to obtain the necessary
pemmits and close additional funding by December 2023.

The Board acknowledges and appreciates the support received from shareholders following the decision to prioritise permitting. The Group will
remain actively engaged with financial and strategic partners to explore all available funding options. Once the permitting process is complete,
the Board is confident in their ability to secure the optimal funding package for successfully executing the project.

Operational Updates

Construction
It was pleasing to see the early stages of the bulk earthworks and civil engineering that begun in January this year. Additional to this enabling
work, the Group has also received deliveries of steel rebar and components for the conveyor systems.

Under the revised crushing strategy, the Group has ordered its new semi-mobile crushing equipment and taken delivery of the screens and ore
sorters which are now secured and stored on site.

Running in parallel to the front-end rebuild has been the mineral processing facility enhancements and upgrades. A considerable amount of
work has gone into ensuring the plant is in the best possible condition for when operations restart. A dedicated team of fabricators, electricians
and engineers have done some exceptional work with key enhancements being the following:

Area Enhancements

Chutes ’ Replacement of wear plates in conveyor chutes and installation of new rock box designs to cut down on wear.

Conveyors Replacement belts and renewal of drums, bearings, and scrapers throughout the processing plant.

Pumps Removal of previously installed pumps, inspection and test of the drive motors.

FYCE I KT (1 (TR T, Bl Extensive repair and redesign of the surge bin to increase longevity in high-wear areas and minimise future
ing Circuit downtime.

Area 140 - Primary DMS Inspection and re-refurbishment of the agitators.
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Refurbishment of the Primary Mill including electrical inspection and testing. Inspection of drive shaft alignment
and lubrication systems to ensure they are fit for production.

Area 150 - Primary Mill

Area 160 - Shaking Tables Overhaul of alt tablf.\s and redesign of the spray bar structures to eliminate points of failure due to excessive

vibration.

Redesign of both the 180 feeders to include side skirts and retum rollers, new guarding manufactured and
installed.

Mechanical overhaul of both the pre dryer and tin dryer. The refinery was also commissioned as part of the
work done to process the legacy tungsten pre-concentrate and tin concentrate, as announced in June 2023.

Design manufacture and installation of an access door on the tank to allow for removal of siit build up. This will
reduce future downtime for maintenance.

Area 180 - Feeders

Area 200 - Refinery

Area 390 - Raw water tank

Area 390 - Process water

tank Sand blasting and application of a wear resistant paint will reduce future downtime and maintenance.

2022 Feasibility Update

In January 2023, the Group released a summary update on its 2021 Feasibility Study which strengthened Hemerdon's case as a robust and
economically viable mine. The Feasibility Study highlighted the project’s strong economics and positioned Tungsten West to become the largest
tungsten producer in the Westem World.

Processing optimisation

The revised plant design introduces two stages of Ore Sorting. This provides operational fiexibility through significantly lowering the mass pull
which reduces the capital and operating costs downstream. Furthermore, by lowering the mass pull it reduces the ratio of iron to tungsten
leading to the elimination of the reduction kiln, significantly reducing diesel consumption and associated Opex.

A further advantage of the re-engineered flowsheet is to introduce a secondary crushed stockpile ahead of the ore sorters. This effectively de-
couples the higher wear rate (and resultant maintenance) of the primary and secondary crushing circuits from the downstream MPF. This
reduces the risk of metal losses created by circuit instability encountered during the Wolf operation.

Mining operations
The mine plan has been redesigned to reflect the reduced throughput planned for the MPF in the first two years of operations, and changes in
primary crushing circuit. This means less waste is mined in the ramp-up period, preserving working capital.

Direct tipping at a newly sited ROM (Run of the mine) pad incorporating the introduction of new semi-mobile primary jaw and secondary cone
crushers also reduces Capex and Opex.

Mineral Resources

Through the Company re-engineering the mining and processing operations, there were improvements in costs and processing assumptions
which lead to a reduction to the breakeven cut-off grade. This meant that Tungsten West was able to report an update to the MRE. The new
LOM production schedule has increased the LOM to approximately 27 years.

Aggregates

Sales of aggregates continued throughout the year until October 2022, with £118,000 revenue being recognised, providing the Group with an
early and differing revenue stream. The Group ceased its production of aggregates from barren material after selling 102,000 tonnes of matenial,
demonstrating the ability to establish a market for the product. Sale of aggregates reduces the amount of barren rock left on-site and supports
Tungsten West in reducing our environmental footprint. Aggregates production will recommence as the mineral processing ramp up completes.

ESG

ESG principles are at the core of our operations, and we take pride in the creative and dedicated efforts of our project team and partners to
address and resolve issues faced by previous operators.

In line with the Climate Change Act (2008) and the UK government's target of achieving net-zero carbon emissions by 2050, the Company
recognises its moral obligation to align itself with this goal, and we are committed to taking proactive measures to reduce our carbon footprint.
Additionally, as part of our commitment to international best practices, we have aligned ourselves with the UN Sustainable Development Goals
("SDGs"), specifically UN SDG 13, which emphasises the urgent need to combat climate change and its impacts. To address these goals, we
have identified several action points, including the exploration of renewable energy sources. The Group has undertaken scoping studies to
assess the feasibility of implementing both solar farms and wind turbines as potential sources of renewable energy. The collaboration with the
fusion energy company, Oxford Sigma, announced post year-end emphasises tungsten’s role as a critical material for the development of fusion
energy, a clean altemative energy source that can help deliver global net-zero targets.

Throughout the financial year, our community engagement team maintained active communication with our broader stakeholders and the local
community through regular face-to-face consultations at County Council, Parish Council and community levels. We believe it is crucial to provide
avenues for the community to understand the project and to reach out to us and voice their concems. As part of our community engagement
plan, we have established a regular forum to facilitate open and transparent communication with local communities. We also maintain a
presence in the Shaugh Prior, Comwood, and Sparkwell Parish Councils, ensuring that we remain connected to the concems and needs of the
local area.

Our team

During the year and post year-end, the Group experienced challenging periods marked by necessary redundancies, which has undoubtediy
impacted our employees. However, the Board acknowledges the resilience and commitment demonstrated by our staff during these tough
times.

As we move forward, we encourage open communication, collaboration, and the sharing of knowledge between all staff members. Together we
form a cohesive team that can achieve a fully permitted MPF and close the required funding to execute the project.
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Diversity

At Tungsten West, we value diversity and inclusion as essential elements of our culture and our performance. We are proud to have a higher
percentage of women in our workforce than the global mining and metals industry average for 2022 of 12.1% (Source: Emst & Young). Despite
the employee tumover we experienced during the year, women still represent 20% (2022: 22%}) of our team.

We believe that having a diverse team enhances our productivity, safety, and creativity. These are key qualities that will help us overcome the
challenges we face in the next 12 months and beyond.

Market overview

Tungsten is a critical mineral and is essential for sectors such as energy and defence, and strengthening other metals, including steel, for
components used in the construction, mining, and medical industries. The global demand for tungsten is forecast to grow by 3%% p.a. over the
next 10 years.

The tungsten market is a significant sector within the global metals industry and supply-wise tungsten remains predominantly sourced from a
small number of countries, with China being the largest producer and exporter. The concentration of global supply of tungsten concentrate
between China, Russia and Vietnam creates a degree of supply risk and price volatility, as geopolitical factors and mining regulations can
impact the availability and pricing of tungsten.

In recent years, there have been efforts to diversify tungsten supply sources and reduce reliance on Chinese and Russian production.
Exploration and development of tungsten deposits in countries like Canada, Australia, and the United States continue to gain attention as
countries look to find a western supply of tungsten.

This makes the Group a strategic asset, with a project of significant importance to the UK and the West, as outlined in the UK's first ever Critical
Minerals Strategy, which included tungsten and tin as minerals with high criticality. The report went on to recognise the South-West as an area
of high importance in meeting commodity security.

Outlook
The 2022 FS Update presented an invaluable opportunity for the Group to re-evaluate the most effective approach to resuming operations at
Hemerdon. The result was an outstanding accomplishment, made possible through seamless collaboration across the entire Company.

In the upcoming 12 months, the Company will enter a pivotal phase as we look to obtain the required permits and secure funding to enable
construction phase. Successfully achieving these milestones will pave the way for recommencing construction, ultimately leading to the revival
of mining activities at the project and in the South-West region.

Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalised terms in this announcement shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the relevant regulatory
announcements by the Company.
DocuSigned by:

Neil Gawthorpe 1CBABCAZ01654CB...
CEO



DocuSign Envelope |D: AA382E7D-F325-4430-90A8-9BC6CE4DE22F

ESG Report

Our mission
Our primary goal is the re-development of the Hemerdon Mine and to restart the production of tungsten and tin with a strong commitment to
environmental and social responsibility. We aim to establish ourselves as a mining operation in the UK that demonstrates the highest level of

ESG practices.

We actively focus on three key aspects: environmental, social, and governance, commonly referred to as ESG. By incorporating ESG principles
into our operations, we strive to minimise our ecological footprint, engage positively with local communities, and adhere to high standards of
corporate governance.

Our aim is to ensure that our mining activities have a positive and sustainable impact, not just on the environment but also on the social fabric of
the communities in which we operate.

Our mission is to become a world-leading producer of tungsten, tin and aggregates, committed to adhering to intemational standards in mining
operations, environmental conservation and safe working practices to enable the delivery of excellence and growth for our partner communities,
investors, employees and other stakeholders.

United Nations Sustainable Development Goals
Tungsten West has aligned our policies and procedures with the UN SDGs, which are widely regarded as the leading global standards for being
a good corporate citizen.

Whilst we appreciate the value of all 17 UN SDGs we have assessed where we can have the most significant positive impact and have
therefore chosen to focus on the nine goals outlined below, which align with our known environmental and social impacts.

@ GENDER] CLEANJWATER] DECENT WORK AND INDUSTRYZINNOVATION @ RESPONSIBLE
EQUALITY; AND SANITATION ECONOMIC GROWTH AND INFRASTRUCTURE CONSUMPTION
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Using the UN SDGs as an ESG framework

By considering the results of stakeholder analysis and the environmental impacts identified within the project’s Environmental and Social Impact
Assessment ("ESIA”) and Environmental Management System (EMS”), Tungsten West has developed the following ESG pillars that include
themes aligning with the UN SDGs and 11 issues deemed most material to our business.

Our ESG Pillars Applicable UN SDGs Key issues identified

Environmental e  Clean Water and Sanitation

e  Sustainable Water Stewardship
¢  Industry, Innovation and Infra- e  Waste Management
structure e Biodiversity
e  Climate Action ¢ Climate Change
e Life Below Water .
e Life on Land
-
Social o  Gender Equality e  Gender Equality
e  Decent Work and Economic e Health, Safety and Wellbeing
Growth e  Communities and Partnerships
e  Responsible Consumption e Pioneering Sustainable Critical Metals
and Production e  Social and Economic
e Peace, Justice and Strong In-
stitutions
I -
Governance o  Decent Work and Economic e  Ethics and Compliance
Growth e Enterprise Risk Management and Risk Appetite
e Industry, Innovation and Infra-
structure
e« Peace, Justice and Strong In-
stitutions
Environmental

At Tungsten West, we have a strong commitment to environmental responsibility. By implementing our environmental pillars, we proactively
identify and implement programs to mitigate any associated risks.

UN SDGs: 6, 14
Sustainable Water Stewardship

Objective: 100% compliance with all water quality standards and permits

Current ongoing compliance initiatives include our water consumption limits and restoration plan. These are managed under the Hydrology and
Optimisation Project and Environmental Development Management Plan.
* Total samples taken across the year: 345 (2022: 287)

— Total surface water samples: 239

— Total groundwater samples: 106

+ 98.26% fall within permitted pollutant discharge limits, six exceedances out of 345 samples The six exceedances relate to two groundwater
boreholes whereby the compliance limit set by the Environment Agency has not taken into account background levels. Tungsten West are
currently in conversations with the Environment Agency about reassessing these limits.

UN SDGs: 9
Waste Management

Objective: Achieve 60:40 waste to recycling ratio at our head office facilities

During the year, the company achieved a ratio of 42% recycling and 58% general waste from office waste.

Our waste management projects aim to limit our product waste sent to the mine waste facility (“MWF”) and any operational waste that may end
up in landfill. So far, our Aggregates West team have processed and sold 100,000 tonnes of aggregates to local and national infrastructure
projects. As a by-product of the mining process, our aggregates are a low carbon, highly sustainable product. By selling this by-product we are
reducing the amount of waste material that remains on-site.

Operational waste is minimised by engaging with local waste contractors to promote circular economy where practicable. Tungsten West are
proud to work with Devon Contract Waste who operate a zero waste to landfill scheme that Tungsten West participate in. An on-site recycling
programme also encourages staff to think about their own personal waste management on a day-to-day work cycle.

9
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UN SDGs: 15
Biodiversity
Objective: Maintain, care and preventing loss of existing trees planted by previous operator and Tungsten West.

As part of a Section 106 (Unilateral Undertaking) agreement between Devon County Council and the previous operator, there was a
requirement to plant and maintain approximately 42,500 trees across the Hemerdon Mine site. By extension, this agreement is now the
responsibility of Tungsten West, who in 2021, commissioned a report into the state of these tree planting sites. The findings of this report
outlined that in each of the planting sites there was between an 85% and 90% establishment rate. Tungsten West originally planned to plant the
lost trees during the 2022 planting season, however due to a mix of unseasonable weather and the erection of deer fencing in high value plots,
this was not completed. Tungsten West successfully completed the planting of these trees (400) as well as an additional 400 trees within Q1 of
2023 and is fully committed to maintaining these areas.

A closure plan is being prepared which will represent a formal commitment to decommission and restore the Hemerdon Mine, in accordance
with all regulatory requirements and to achieve outcomes agreed through consultation with all appropriate stakeholders.

The closure plan will provide the foundation from which Tungsten West will continue to develop the detail and update routinely, throughout the
operational phase. This process will facilitate incorporation of any relevant development of environmental monitoring as agreed with the
regulatory and community stakehotders.

UNSDGs: 13
Climate Change

Objective: Install sub-metering so we can baseline our office energy consumption
Objective: Baseline our scope three emissions for future assessment and target setting

During the year, the company successfully installed site sub-metering and are continuing to baseline office energy consumption. However,
scope 3 objective was not achieved and alternative methods of calculating Scope 3 are being explored.

We recognise our responsibility, as a contributor of greenhouse gas emissions, to identify and implement programmes to minimise energy
usage where possible. Our Greenhouse Gas Emissions Project looks to address in the short term our on-site energy consumption whilst also
looking ahead and forecasting our emissions intensity across all our products, meaning the Group can implement carbon emission reducing
strategies when we reach production. Tungsten West has successfully camried out the installation of site wide electricity submetering so that the
business can be better informed about where to target efficiency improvements or challenge cultural issues surrounding energy consumption. It
is the intention of Tungsten West to widen the scope of these meters into the processing plant during operations so that the business can target
efficiency improvements projects on significant energy users.

Primarily in response to the global energy crisis in 2022 as well as exploring ways to decarbonise as a business, Tungsten West have
established an Energy Taskforce that comprises representatives from departments across the business responsible for significant energy users.
This group reviews ongoing energy usage whilst also exploring energy efficiency / reduction strategies, renewable energy generation, and
alternative fuels.

The revised design for the MPF is focussed heavily on energy efficiency. The drying and roasting process in the MPF is being redesigned to
reduce diese! consumption by a forecast 1 million litres per annum on a same throughput basis.

In addition, the volume of waste hauled to the MWF is a key area of focus. This will be reduced by sale of a proportion of waste as aggregates.
Finally, plans to significantly reduce the ROM pad rehandling process will significantly reduce diese! consumption by earth-moving equipment.

Social

UN SDGs: 5, 8, 12, 16
Gender Equality

Objective: Increase our gender diversity from 23% to 30%

The objective was not achieved with gender diversity falling to 20%. The Company remains committed to increasing the diversity to 30%.

Gender, diversity and inclusion are important to Tungsten West as diverse societies, communities and teams produce significantly better
outcomes for all members. Mining has historically been a male-dominated industry therefore the Company has targeted setting up an open
forum for transparent communication at all levels within the business. We hope this can facilitate gender diversity throughout the Company as
we work to build a diverse workforce.

UN SDGs: 8
Health, Safety and Wellbeing

Objective: 10% reduction in all time incident rate
Objective: 10% increase in near miss reporting frequency rate
Objective: 10% increase in hours of health and safety and emergency response training

The health, safety and wellbeing of our employees is always our number one priority. As the Group continues to grow and mining activity on site
increases, we encourage our employees to embrace a strong health and safety culture through first aid training and respecting health and safety
procedures on-site.

As a tool to aid the objective, Tungsten West has successfully rolled out an incident reporting platform. This platform, which allows
instantaneous reporting of incidents, near misses, and unsafe conditions, allows Tungsten West to monitor trends and target safety training or
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improvements in specific areas before more serious incidents are realised. Since it's rollout in August 2022, there has been an approximate 3-
fold increase in near miss reporting from 2021/2022.

Tungsten West prioritises the physical and mental wellbeing of its employees, and as such has a number of initiatives and schemes to support
staff needs led by its dedicated HR resource including an Employee Assistance Programme providing 24/7 access to counselling services and
personal growth support, awareness days that seek to tackle issues of importance to staff welfare and staff events designed to bring the team
together in a relaxed environment, such as all-staff lunches. Transparent communication with executive management is encouraged. This
approach is underpinned by inclusive and supportive HR policies and processes, administered through the latest cloud-based HR systems
aimed at promoting continuous professional development in a nurturing environment.

UN SDGs: 16
Communities and Partnerships

Objective: 100% of Stage 1 complaints responded to within timescales and 100% of interactions logged and acknowledged

During the year, all stage 1 complaints were responded to within appropriate timescales.

Our ability to operate successfully is dependent on the continued support of our local communities. During this period of mine and plant
upgrades, we concentrate our time on developing positive, constructive and professional relationships with our local communities, especially
those who live and reside close to the mine site. Many local residents remember the legacy noise issues under the previous operator; therefore
it is critical that we address any concemns ahead of the recommencing of mining operations so the local residents can have the peace of mind
that as neighbours, we will operate in a conscientious and respectful manner.

One way we proactively manage these issues is to hold public engagement events in local parish venues. By studying the issues and designing
world-class mitigations, we can demonstrate to our local communities how we aim to mitigate noise or light nuisances. Tungsten West also
facilitate a Local Liaison Group comprising representatives from local parish / ward councils, the Environment Agency, Devon County Council
and other interested parties with the aim of providing a forum for Tungsten West to discuss their future plans and address any stakeholder
concems.

In 2022, Tungsten West submitted a Section 73 application to vary Condition 19 of their planning permission to increase the number of
permitted Heavy Goods Vehicles (‘HGV") movements. After hosting a series of public consultation events and taking on-board feedback from
members of the public, Tungsten West withdrew this application and are currently seeking a resolution that enables the company to meet its
business objectives and satisfy anticipated conditions precedent to funding.

UN SDGs: 12
Pioneering Sustainable Critical Metals

Objective: Increase digital followers (social media accounts) by 25% to raise awareness of the importance of sustainable critical metals

During the year, the company increased its social media followers by 37%.

As countries continue to come forward with ambitious emission reduction targets, ensuring that critical minerals and materials are available for
renewable technologies and electric vehicles is vital. Societies also want to see the positive benefits that arise from mineral extraction and
processing; therefore we have a responsibility to ensure our processes always take into account the local environment and communities.

Tungsten West is a proud member of the UK Critical Minerals Association where we look to influence an industry that is in an urgent need of
_new sources of sustainable critical minerals.

UN SDGs: 5, 8
Social and Economic Development

Objective: Invest an agreed amount via a Community Investment Fund

Tungsten West is actively engaged with local education providers and regularly hosts educational site tours for students and other interested
stakeholders.

To date, Tungsten West has hosted site visits by Time for Geography, an online educational organisation producing video content to inspire the
next generation of geologists and earth scientists, as weil as Plymouth University students training to be geography teachers who will write
future course content based on the Hemerdon Mine. In March this year, Tungsten West also hosted a group of students from Sparkwell Primary
School for a tour around the site and processing facility. Tungsten West understand the importance of educating and inspiring the next
generation of mining professionals and highlighting the significance of Hemerdon on the global stage of critical metals.

A University of Plymouth student completed an eight-week work placement during their final year studying for their MSc in Environmental
Consultancy, where they actively supported the work of the ESG team. In the coming year we look forward to hosting a further three students
from the University of Plymouth for work experience placements across the teams.

Tungsten West has also signed Plymouth’s Armed Forces Covenant designed to support veterans and their families into work. As recruitment
ramps up, more initiatives will be put into place to support local educational links and employment.

Additionally, Tungsten West has recently agreed to develop a Community Investment Fund, once production has recommenced, with the aim of
supporting and working with individuals and groups in surrounding communities as part of its ‘give back' objective.
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Governance

UN SDGs: 9, 16
Ethics and Compliance

Objective: Obtain MWF and Mineral Processing Plant Permits
Objective: Retain all required ISO accreditations

To achieve our mission, Tungsten West looks to maintain the highest levels of ethical standards in our conduct and encourages the same for all
our wider stakeholders, whilst working in full compliance with the laws and regulations that impact our operations.

During the year, Tungsten West obtained its MWF and water abstraction permits and post year-end we are in the process of satisfying enquiries
from the regulator in relation to the MPF Pemmit.

During 2022/2023, Tungsten West also successfully completed their Integrated Management System audit including 1ISO 14001
(Environmental), 45001 (Health and Safety) and 9001 (Quality) as well as their Energy Management System audit (ISO 50001).

UN SDGs: 9
Enterprise Risk Management and Risk Appetite

Objective: Implement and host routine intemal risk seminars to educate our employee base on key Company risks

Robust risk management and good corporate governance is the foundation from which we can promote optimal economic, social and
environmental outcomes.

All departments are required to maintain risk registers and report to the Risk and Audit Committee any significant changes in risks. Cross-
collaboration between departments allows critical analysis of each department’s risks to ensure all remain objective to the business as a whole.

As a result of the changes to the Board, the objective remains ongoing. Departmental registers are maintained and presented to the senior
leadership team on periodic basis.
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Stakeholder Engagement

Understanding our stakeholders

Section 172 statement
All members of the Board understand the duties of directors under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006.

All Directors act in a manner they consider, in good faith, to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of all stakeholders and in doing
so consider:

« The likely consequence of any decision in the long term.

« The interests of the Company’s employees.

* The need to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others.

* The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment.

» The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct.
* The need to act fairly between members of the Company.

Tungsten West's purpose is to restart the world-class Hemerdon Tungsten-Tin Mine to provide essential strategic metals, doing so in a
profitable, safe and sustainable manner. By promoting this approach, we look to create value throughout our stakeholder base.

Throughout the financial year we have engaged with all our key stakeholders which has allowed us to understand their views and consider how
we can address their needs in order to align these with our strategy and core goals.

The key stakeholder zones

¢  Hemerdon and Sparkwell

¢  Comwood and Lutton

e  Shaugh Prior and Wotter

e  Plympton — Chaddlewood and St Mary Wards
e  Wider Piymouth

Restarting Hemerdon

The decision to pause operations and redevelop the business plan had a significant impact on stakeholders. The Board considered the needs of
shareholders, employees, suppliers, and other stakeholders throughout the process.

e  Shareholders were kept informed through public announcements and an investor webinar.
e  Suppliers were notified immediately and the group managed capital items and payment structures to maintain supplier relationships.

o  Employees were informed through meetings and newsletters, with further briefings by department heads. The Group also organised social
event for employees to address concemns.

»  The surrounding communities and officials were briefed monthly via email and face-to-face meetings.
The following are our key stakeholders and how we engaged with them during the financial year.

(;Q Employees

HOW — The Company maintains an

WHO - Our workforce is an adaptable

and dedicated group of individuals,
recruited mainly from the local area,
together with experts in their field
from many different countries across
the globe. :

! open-door policy, encouraging employ-

ees to voice their opinions and raise
questions to management. Newsletters
share comprehensive updates across
different departments, while town hall
meetings serve as a platform for the
Executive Committee (ExCo) to provide
strategic updates.

WHAT - Following the pause to the
project, employees initially felt ‘out
of the loop’ as to the future of
Hemerdon. Employees wanted clear
and honest updates from ExCo as to
how the project was going to restart.
The restructuring and associated re-
dundancies conducted post year end
was conducted with full employee
engagement and Sg_gsultation.

OUTCOME - During the re-optimistion of the project and feasibility update, ExCo gave regular progress updates in the main
office, inviting Q&A to scrutinize and challenge the restart plan.
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WHO - the Company has a wide
range of shareholders from financial
institutions to retail investors, whilst
continuing to engage with potential
long-term strategic lenders. Their
support is vital so we can build a
{ong-term viable mining company
that seeks to deliver sustainable
shareholder and lender value.

HOW - The Company leverages its
social media presence to deliver in-
formal and engaging updates, while
the CEO and CFO have attended min-
ing conferences to address strategic
issues raised by investors. Regular
RNS announcements deliver timely
and market sensitive updates.

WHAT - Just like our employees,
shareholders expressed concerns
throughout the year regarding the
reasons behind the project pause
and how those challenges would be
resolved. Management has also kept
shareholders informed on the re-
quirement for permits to access the
additional project funding required.

OUTCOME - The Company engaged in video updates with their brokers to provide development updates and also participated
in Q&A sessions with Proactive Investors UK.

@ Local Communities

WHO - We really need the support
and understanding of our local com-
munities around the mine site so we
can operate effectively and respect-
fully. Engaging with the community
helps us make smarter decisions for
the long-term success of the mine.

HOW - The Company maintains a
Mine Local Liaison Group to offer
regular updates to elected officials
from neighboring community coun-
cils. Additionally, the Company has
enthusiastically welcomed visits from
local primary schools, aiming to in-
spire the next generation of miners.

WHAT - The main concern of our lo-
cal communities remains focused on
Low Frequency Noise (“LFN”). Addi-
tionally, we receive regular interest
in our environmental responsibilities,
including our commitment to main-
taining the deer fencing and tree
planting program.

OUTCOME - A local "working group" has been established to provide community members with updates outside of the Parish
Council meetings. We have shared information about joining this group through Facebook pages and community noticeboards.
Additionally, we have extended invitations to visit and witness the LFN trial in action.

o-2® Regulators

WHO - It's crucial for us to establish
trust with regulators to make sure
we are compliant with our permitting
and planning duties. Being a mining
company, we understand the im-
portance of respecting the

Hemerdon landscape and carrying
out our mining operations responsi-
bly to protect the environment.

HOW - We actively collaborate with
Devon County Council and the Envi-
ronment Agency (“EA”)to ensure we
meet our compliance obligations for
the mine site. This includes monitor-
ing and reporting our water dis-
charge performance in line with reg-
ulations.

Additionally, we work closely with
the national government & the Criti-
cal Minerals Association, playing a
crucial role in promoting the UK Criti-
cal Minerals Strategy.

WHAT —~ Our regulators are particu-

- larly interested in our ongoing com-
| pliance obligations relating to water

and our future permitted activities.
We have been fully engaged with the
EA during the LFN trials after the
year end. This included multiple vis-
its to site by EA staff.

The Government and CMA are also
keen to understand the Company's
role in the UK Critical Mineral Strat-
egy.

OUTCOME - We have continued to uphold the 1S014001 (Environmental Management System), ensuring our commitment to
environmental standards. Through regular meetings and calls, we have fostered strong working relationships with our regula-
tors, prioritising transparent and open communication, so as to establish a foundation of trust and collaboration.
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WHO - The Company depends on
third-party service providers and sup-
pliers to acquire equipment, services,
infrastructure, and raw materials
necessary for our business and oper-
ations. Our goal is to establish long-
term partnerships in the mining in-
dustry, building a network that sup-
ports our needs effectively.
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HOW — We actively engage with our
suppliers by sharing our procure-
ment process. Additionally, we re-
main involved in supplier tendering
to ensure that our costs are kept rea-
sonable and in line with market
standards. As part of our commit-
ment to the industry, we are proud
members of various trade bodies, in-
cluding the Chamber of Commerce
and the Critical Minerals Association.

WHAT - After the project pause,
suppliers expressed concerns about
liquidity issues within the Company,
as it is crucial for them to safeguard
their own financial interests. In addi-
tion, the absence of on-site canteen
facilities for suppliers contributed to
an unfavorable working environ-
ment.

1

OUTCOME - The Company works alongside a contract management consultant who plays a crucial role in supplier manage-
ment, particularly during the project pause phase. Moreover, to enhance the working environment and promote a positive at-
mosphere, the Company has successfully faunched an on-site café. This café offers a range of hot meals from breakfast to
lunch, proudly sourcing local produce and engaging local suppliers.
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Financial Review

The pause to the project meant the Group remained in the development phase and will continue to do so until mining operations are expected to
restart in H2 of 2024. The Board continues to monitor KPIs in line with prior year which are suited to the project development.

KPI 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents £3.4m £28.8m
Investment raised (net of issue costs) £0.3m £41.2m
Asset under construction costs capitalised £13.6m £3.9m
LTI and MTI incidents 3/1 Nit
2023 2022
Operating Loss (£10.79m) (£12.20m)
(Deduct)/Add other (gains)/losses (Note 7) (£0.71m) £0.85m
Adjusted loss (£11.50m) ’ (£11.35m)

Overall, the Group made a net loss after tax of £10.3 million (2022: £13.0 million) and an adjusted operating loss of £11.50 million, reconciled
above (2022: £11.35 million).

The Group ceased its aggregate production in April 2022, meaning cost of sales in relation to aggregate sales significantly reduced. Corporate
activities were lower because the prior year included fees relating to the AIM admission and other funding processes. Whilst headcount was
temporarily reduced because of the project pause in July 2022, overall staff numbers were higher in the year averaging at 81 (2022: 58)
resulting in higher staff costs and contributing to the increase in administrative costs to £10.2 mitlion (£8.0 million).

The Group continued to sell surplus low-grade tungsten concentrate for a combined value of £0.5 million (2022: £0.2 million) whilst also selling
£0.1 million of aggregate inventory (2022: £0.4 million). Due to inefficiencies of operating at small scale and rising operating costs associated
with energy prices and yield, the Group ceased its aggregate production. The trial operation has played an important role in building our
Aggregates West brand as we aim to maintain long-lasting relationships with our local and national customers. The remaining aggregate
inventory has been written off to the profit and loss account as a cost benefit analysis has shown it to be more beneficial to the group that the
mining department utilise the material as part of their enabling works for the MWF.

- Following the re-commissioning of the refinery, the Group has £0.1 million of tungsten pre-concentrate and tin concentrate inventory which it has
sold post year-end for a value of £0.4 million.

During the year, the Group re-engaged with tax consultants who undertook an R&D review on our 2022 research projects. The claims resulted
in a £0.5 million credit being recognised during the reporting period (FY21 claim: £0.5 million) with FY22 claim (£0.1 million) being deferred until
2023. At the date of signing the balance sheet, all tax credits have been received and the Group are currently in the process of preparing the
retum for 2023.

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of £3.4 million (2022: £28.8 million). The decrease is due to continued capital expenditure on
equipment stage payments, payments to the front-end rebuild contractors and pre-operating maintenance and administration costs.

The Group has capitalised all costs to Asset Under Construction that relate to the ongoing project to upgrade the processing plant and mine site.
At the year-end, total capitalised costs have increased to £13.6 million (2022: £3.9 million). Included in this is £2.0 million (2022: £1.0 million)
capitalised labour costs.

Included within deposits are £4.3 million (2022: £2.3 million) of stage payments on the Tomra Ore Sorters, Metso Semi Mobile Crushing unit and
lab equipment. These payments are not capitalised to fixed assets until they are delivered to site and installed.

Funding

In the prior year, Tungsten West completed a successful admission to the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange in October 2021, issuing
65,000,000 new Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each at 60 pence (“p°) per share, raising new gross funds of £39.0 million. Fees incurred on the AIM
admission process were, in aggregate, £3.1 million, resulting in net proceeds of £36.0 million. There were no major funding events in the current
year as the Group continued to negotiate its strategic long-term funding with various lending parties.

Shareholders exercised 1,183,400 warrants (2022: 442,222) over Ordinary Shares of 1p at prices ranging from 25p to 30p per share, raising
new funds of £283,600 (2022: £131,000).

Post Balance Sheet events

In May 2023, for the Group to be able to meet its near-term contractual liabilities and achieve its short term strategic objectives, surrounding
financing pemmitting activities, the Group announced it was raising £6.95 million by way of convertible loan notes (“CLN") and up to £2.0 million
via an open offer. The CLN will accrue interest with an effective rate of 20%, compounding every six months. The CLN are convertible at the
lesser of 3p per share or a 50% discount to the offer price of an equity raise. An additional £2.0 million tranche may be offered by the Company
if required. For further information please see recent company announcements on the London Stock Exchange.

The take up of the open offer was approximately 10%. Whilst this was disappointing, management believes it has sufficient access to capital to
achieve the Company’s short term strategic objectives of pemitting, planning and securing the funding required to complete the project and
recommence production.
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- Alongside the interim funding, the Group undertook a cost-cutting programme whereby a review of operating costs and capital expenditure took
place. The Group tock measures to conserve cash by stopping capex payments, restructuring the cost base and deferring certain contracted
payments to creditors. As a resutt of this, the Group has nofified the Note Purchasers of multiple defaults on the terms of the Note Purchase
Agreement which relate to payments to creditors. These are detailed later in this report (Note 35). Under the terms of the Note Purchase Agree-
ment, The Noteholders can cance! any outstanding Notes under the Note Purchase agreement and demand immediate redemption unless a
waiver is in place. The redemption sum is two times the loan note principal outstanding along with any accrued PIK. A waiver for the breaches is
in place at the time of signing these accounts. The waiver will expire on 31 January 2024. For the Group to remain a going concem, the Group
is reliant on continued support of the Noteholders by not exercising their rights under the defaults, should the defaults not be remedied, or the
note converted or redeemed, by 31 January 2024.

This staff reduction exercise concluded in June 2023. On its conclusion, headcount will have been reduced by 42% via redundancy and
resignations, and monthly payroll costs by 42%. A further cost reduction exercise was initiated in August 2023, with further redundancies
anticipated.

Project Capex for the Front-End re-build has been temporarily scaled back to existing capital commitments for equipment purchase and low-
frequency noise trial work. Refurbishment work within the plant has ceased until permitting and funding process are complete.

DocuSigned by:

Neil Gawthorpe
Chief Executive 1CBABCA201654CB...
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties
During the year, the Group made significant progress in enhancing risk management practices. We achieved a stronger focus and engagement from all levels of management, recognising the ongoing and evolving nature
of risk management. With robust frameworks and improved communication, we fostered a culture that values risk awareness and proactive mitigation. This commitment safeguards our interests, protects stakeholders, and

supports sustainable growth,

Emerging Risks

In addition to addressing principal risks, the Board proactively addresses emerging risks to bolster the Group's resilience during uncertain times. Heightened UK inflation and economic instability pose direct risks, particularly

as significant mine and plant upg are anticip

management and operational efficiency.

Risk Appetite

The Group's appetite to risk has changed to reflect the uncertainty on our permitting. The Group's activities in the short term are solely focused on risks associated with obtaining our mineral processing facility permit.

Principal risks

Outlined below are the principal risk factors that the Board feels may affect performance and economic retum. The risks detailed below are not exhaustive, and further risks and uncertainties may exist which are currently

unidentified or considered to be immaterial.

To navigate this period, the Board is actively managing costs and engaging with suppliers to secure the most competitive quotes, ensuring prudent financial

Impact

Mitigation

Change

Delays in any pemmits being granted to the
Group will delay the restart of mining opera-
tions which will impact profitability and de-
crease the cash headroom the Group has
available.

Without a MPF permit the Group would be
unable to commence mining operations.

Plan and implement fomal stakeholder en-

to ints and issues
that were raised and experienced, particularly
by directly affected neighbours.

Ongoing discussions with the permitting au-
thorities (MPA and EA) and stakeholders, to
agree modifications to the design of the MWF
and MPF.

The Group is still awaiting the receipt of a draft MPF per-
mit. Feedback from the Environmental Agency suggests
that additional efforts must be made to address the his-
torical issues related to low frequency noise (LFN) before
the permit can be granted. This situation has increased
the permitting risk throughout the year. Executive Direc-
tors are actively engaged with the Environment Agency.
The board closely monitors the progress on a weekly ba-
sis and actively partici| inther it of the
various projects being undertaken to address the histori-
cal LFN issues.

Risk

Permit- The Group requires various permits

ting Risk and planning permission to operate.
There is a risk of withdrawal or no

é::ie:: to access to finance required to com-

ptete the project.

If project risks and returns prove unattractive
to investors, there could be insufficient capi-
tal available to complete the project and re-
start production.

Adapt our business model to keep operations
insulated from inflationary pressures and pro-
vide attractive returns to investors.

Routinely report to lenders and key investors
and remain engaged on key issues or con-
cerns they may have; increased focus on
achieving key permitting and planning mile-
stones required for securing access to capital

Engage with professional advisers on any is-
sues that could cause withdrawal of facilities.

Since we paused the project in July 2022, it was ex-
pected that we could operate on the basis that funding
and permitting could run in parallel. However, lender
feedback has proven this not to be the case. Even
though the work conducted under the 2022 FS Update
led to an overall improved project, the design changes
required have impacted our ability to achieve permitting
and as a consequence, elevated access to capital risk.
The Board are in active discussions with financing part-
ners, who remain supportive of the project, to ensure all
parties have visibility on permitting progress so when a
draft permit is issued, funding can proceed with minimal
delay.
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Risk

Impact

Mitigation

Change

Key Per-
sonnel
Risk

The Group's ability to compete in
the competitive mineral resource
sector depends upon its ability to
attract and retain highly qualified
management, operational and tech-
nical personnel.

The loss of key management and/or tech-
nical personnel could delay the development
of the Group's assets and negatively impact
the ability of the Group to compete in the
tinftungsten resource sector and therefore
have an adverse effect on the project's prof-
itability.

To date, the Group has been successful in re-
cruiting and retaining high quality staff. The
Board and Human Resources monitor em-
ployee attrition closely and have put together
an attractive employment package to secure
and retain the best personnel.

Staff turnover, resulting from both redundancies
and resignations, has been high throughout and
post-year end. This increase has elevated the Key
Personnel Risk, as there is a potential for insuffi-
cient or delayed replacement of key personnel or
further departures from the project. The Board is
actively monitoring employee turnover and market
conditions to ensure they can offer competitive re-
muneration packages and career opportunities as
well as maintaining an excellent working environ-
ment.

Unstable
Economy
Risk

There is a risk that the UK and the
wider global economy enters reces-
sion, putting economic pressure on
demand and pricing, key contrac-
tors, off-takers and the business.

Economic instability puts pressure on busi-
nesses as they have to absorb losses
through reduced revenues and increased
costs. There is a risk that our key contractors
and off-takers do not survive through the
current economic environment and therefore
cause the Group to have to secure new con-
tractors and off-takers which would result in
higher costs and lower revenues as busi-
nesses try and secure more aggressive cost-
ing tems.

Management and the Board regularly review
the implications of macroeconomic conditions.
The Group also ensures there is access to a
sufficient buffer of capital to absorb overruns
until the project is profitable. in a scenario
where the Group anticipates unacceptable cost
increase, the Group will seek altemative
measures to reduce costs or delay operational
readiness and hiring.

Inflation in the UK has increased both during the
year and after the year-end. The current inflation-
ary environment remains above the BoE target,
posing a heightened risk to the stability of the
economy. Management is actively monitoring key
input costs and the outlook for inflation in the prin-
ciple areas that impact our operations. In recent
months energy costs have decreased signifi-
cantly. Current and forecast demand for the com-
modities the mine will produce continues to be
strong.

Geopolitl-
cal Risk

There is a risk that geopolitical
events outside the Company’s
control coutd materially impact
the business plan.

Geopolitical events could result in repeats of
energy price spikes experienced over 2022
and exchange rate volatility. Failure to react
to geopolitical events may result in unneces-
sary cost absorptions, lack of access to key
materials and skilled labour.

Monitor price changes in key materials such as
energy, fuel and reagents. Consider price fix-
ing if there is anticipation of volatile prices due
to geopolitical risk.

Engage with advisers on foreign currency strat-
egy. Consider hedging products to manage
risk.

The conflict between Ukraine and Russia is affect-
ing the UK economy and the prices of raw materi-
als used in blasting have been volatile, leading to

an increased geopolitical risk. Management is ac-
tively involved in communicating with suppliers to

closely monitor the fluctuations in blasting costs.

Develop-
ment Risk

The site and plant enhancements at
the Hemerdon Mine may be subject
to unexpected cost overruns and
delays.

Whilst best estimates are used to prepare
capital project budgets, any unexpected
problems will increase costs, delay reve-
nues, and erode cash reserves and project
retums.

Management and the Board regularly review
and update forecasts whilst comparing budgets
against project expenditure to date.

The Group also ensures there is access to a
sufficient buffer of capital (contingency) to ab-
sorb overruns and Opex until project profitabil-
ity. In a scenario where the Group anticipates
unacceptable cost increase, the Group will
seek alternative measures to reduce costs or
delay operational readiness and hiring.

Development risk has increased due to two un-
planned pauses in the construction process, re-
sulting in an escalation of overhead burn-rate and
supplier compensation. These unexpected inter-
ruptions have caused disruptions to the project
timeline, leading to additional costs and chal-
lenges in allocating resources. The Board is ac-
tively monitoring cash flow forecasts on a monthly
and weekly basis to ensure optimal resource allo-
cation during the ongoing construction pause.
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Risk

Impact

Mitigation

Change

Safety
and Well-
belng

There is an inherent risk in the min-
ing industry that accidents will oc-
cur as a result of a failure in adher-
ing to health and safety procedures.

Accidents can result in serious or fatal inju-
ries which will impact the trust our employ-
ees and contractors have to operate safely
on-site.

A severe failure in health and safety will
have an overall impact throughout the busi-
ness including financial penalties, project de-
lays, recruitment and negative employee
morale.

Build awareness of health and safety through-
out the business with regular health and safety
training and updates.

Undertake rigorous risk assessments for all
construction and mining activities.

Ensure all our health and safety standards and
procedures adhere to ISO 45001.

Health and safety on a mine site is paramount due
to the inherent risks involved in mining operations.
The nature of mining and construction activities
poses significant dangers to workers' well-being.
As a result, maintaining a high level of health and
safety awareness is crucial to safeguarding the
well-being of employees and contractors. The
board acknowledge that the importance of this is-
sue will not change and must always be at the
forefront of the Groups operations.

Foreign
Exchange
(FX) Risk

The Group has exposure to foreign
currency risk as its tungsten and tin
revenues are predominantly in US
Dollar.

As the Group’s operating costs are predomi-
nantly in Pound Sterling and the reporting
currency is also in Pound Sterling, a weak-
ened US Dollar would impact project retumns.
Fluctuations in exchange rates also intro-
duce volatility in the Group’s financial results
that are not necessarily related to the
Group's underlying operations.

The Group has a hedging policy approved by
the Board and lenders if they were to use
hedging products to protect the FX exposure.

FX risk has remained relatively unchanged. How-
ever, it is essential to recognise that FX risk con-
tinues to be a significant concern. Adverse move-
ments in exchange rates can have a detrimental
impact on project economics, particularly as reve-
nues are denominated in US Dollar.

Volatllity
of Com-
modity
Prices

Fluctuations in tungsten, tin and ag-
gregates prices which are beyond
the Group's control.

Off-take agreements are linked to market
prices which are subject to fluctuations out of
the Group's control. A fall in commodity
prices will adversely impact revenues and
margins.

The Board and management regularly monitor
commodity prices so they can adapt and scale
back projects if they anticipate lower returns.

Due to the minimal volatility observed in tin and
tungsten prices, commodity price risk remains un-
changed.

Key Con-
tractors
and Sup-
pliers

The Group has a reliance on key
contractors and suppliers due to the
specific nature of the plant up-
grades.

If the Group experiences any difficulties in
retaining suitably qualified contractors, this
will have a material impact on plant up-
grades and an increase in costs to secure
replacement contractors. This will cause de-
lays in project timelines and erode project
profitability.

The Group's contractors are permanently
based on site therefore the Group can have
real time communication and updates on pro-
ject readiness.

All key materials and machinery are purchased
ahead of time to ensure they are immediately
available for installation.

Key contractor risk has remained unchanged as
the Company has maintained good relationships
with its contractors, and there have been no sig-
nificant issues throughout the year.

Environ-
mental
and So-
clal Re-
sponsibil-
ities

The Group's operations are subject
to various laws and regulations re-
lating to the protection of the envi-
ronment and the local community.
Before mining can recommence,
the Group must reapply for a num-
ber of operating permits of which
there can be no guarantee that
these applications will be success-
ful.

A delay or failure to obtain or retain the nec-
essary environmental and social licences will
have an adverse effect on the Group's reve-
nues and profitability.

The Group continues to improve its communi-
cation and transparency on its environmental
and social responsibilities. Included within this
Annual Report is the Group's first Sustainability
Report which addresses in detail its approach
to good ESG governance. The Group also con-
tinues to engage with local authorities and
communities. The Group enforces strong ESG
principles across its operations which are regu-
larty reviewed by the Board and ESG Manager.

Failing to prioritise environmental and social re-
sponsibilities could result in negative conse-
quences, including environmental degradation,
community conflicts, r ional d ge, and le-
gal liabilities. Therefore, the risk remains the same
throughout this construction phase. Maintaining a
strong commitment to environmental conserva-
tion, sustainable practices and community en-
gagement is not only ethically important, but also
key for the long-term success and social ac-
ceptance of the Hemerdon mining operations.
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Risk

Impact

Mitigation

Change

Data Se-
curlty/
Market
Abuse

Employeses throughout the business
have access to sensitive, non-pub-
lic information, and there is a risk
that a) employees abuse their posi-
tion and share this information out-
side of the business and b) the
breach of non-public information
leads to market abuse.

There is a reputational risk to the business if
the Company cannot protect market-sensi-
tive information.

Fines and sanctions if employees are found
to be abusing their position and sharing non-
public information.

Keep sensitive information within senior man-
agement groups and restrict access to data
where required.

Secure physical data within the office to reduce

ac | sharing of inft n.

Provide training and support to staff to ensure
there is Company-wide awareness of market
abuse.

Automate processes where possible to reduce
the manual handling of sensitive data.

Data security risk remains unchanged as the
Company remains in the construction phase.
While the construction phase involves various ac-
tivities such as infrastructure development and es-
tablishment of systems, the Company does not
handle operational data or store sensitive cus-
tomer information during this period. As a result,
the inherent risks associated with data security
are relatively low during this phase. However, it is
important for the Company to proactively establish
robust data security procedures in anticipation of
the operational phase.

Plant Via-
bliity

There is a risk that the plant cannot
produce a competitively priced
product and the quality of product
expaected from our off-takers.

Adapt our business model to keep opera-
tions insulated from inflationary pressures
and provide attractive returns to investors.

Routinely report to lenders and key investors
and remain engaged on key issues or con-
cerns they may have.

Engage with professional advisers on any is-

sues that could cause withdrawal of facilities.

Operator training and experience will improve
and maintain required performance of the pro-
cessing facility.

Ore storage between unit operations will allow
longer running times and improved stability
performance.

Ensure availability of trained personnel.

The update to the feasibility study has brought
about improvements in project economics and
output, which directly improves the plant's viability
and competitivensss in the market. By incorporat-
ing updated technological advancement and re-
fined operational strategies, the revised study pro-
vides an improved assessment of the project's ca-
pabilities.

Operating
Cost Risk

The Group is exposed to inflation-
ary pressures that impact the core
materials required for the opera-
tions, mainly being reagents, en-
ergy and diesel costs.

Whilst best estimates are used to prepare
operating cost budgets, recent events have
shown the adverse impact of an inflationary
environment on operating costs.

Management regularly update forecasts and
apply sensitivity analysis whilst comparing
budgets against expenditure to date.

The project team have reviewed the pro-
cessing facility restart plan to ensure the most
profitable and cost efficient processes are be-
ing utilised to minimise consumption on costly
materials.

The operating cost risk has experienced a mixed
trend due to contrasting factors. On one hand,
there has been a decrease in operating cost risk
as energy prices have been declining, although
market forecasts suggest these may increase
again in the medium term. The operating cost risk
has also increased due to the heightened infla-
tionary environment in the UK. The board con-
tinue to monitor energy prices closely and update
f regularly as infi continues to push
supplier costs upwards.

Reserve
Estimates

The Group's reported reserves of
tungsten, tin and aggregates are
only estimates and there is no cer-
tainty that the estimated resources
will be mined.

Any material reductions in the estimates
could have a material adverse effect on the
Group's future profitability and project re-
tumns.

The mine's reserves have been prepared by a
team of independent qualified specialists. On-

The risk associated with the reserve estimate has
decreased due to the revised calculations follow-
ing the update to the 2021 Feasibility Study. This
reduction in risk is key for a mining company as it
enhances our decision-making process regarding
resource allocation, project planning, and financia!

going ites will be ited by an
experienced onsite team of g ientists and
engineers.

ing. The use of up-to-date calculations en-
sures that the mineral reserve estimate is based
on the most current and reliable information avail-

_able, ising potential errors or inaccuracies.
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Mitigation

Change

Risk Impact
There is a risk that the current An outbreak of a new variant could cause
Covid-19 COVID-19 pandemic is prolonged, shortage of personnel and/or shut down op-
Risk either through subsequent waves or  erations, adversely affecting operating per-
if additional variants emerge. formance and production efficiency.

The Board continues to monitor and adapt in
response to the pandemic and introduce pro-
portionate health and safety measures when
required.

The risk of COVID-19 has significantly decreased
due to the widespread availability and effective-
ness of vaccines. As more individuals receive vac-
cination, the overall population immunity in-
creases, leading to a dectine in the prevalence of
the virus. While the virus may still persist, the situ-
ation has shifted from a pandemic to a more man-
ageable state. However, it remains crucial to
maintain awareness, as localised outbreaks and

variants of the virus can still pose risks.
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. Richard (Rick) Wil-
David Connal Cather Neil Gawthorpe Ar_rthony Nigel Martin John Wood liam Macfarlane
Widdowson
Maxey
Ind dent Non-E tive Chairman Senior Independent

(Approinted to Chairman November

Chief Exacutive Office (Appointed
March 2023)

Chief Financial Officer (in office
until August 2023)

Non-Executive Director
(appointed November 2022)

Non-Executive Director

David joined the Company in September 2021
as a Non-Executive Director and went on to be-
come Chairman in November 2022. David has
participated in numerous acquisitions and IPOs
of mining companies on various stock ex-
changes and has significant expertise in mine
development. He is currently Non-Executive
Chairman of Metals Exploration plc, an Inde-
pendent Director of JSC AK Altynalmas, a Ka-
zakhstan-listed emerging mid-tier gold producer
and of Galantas Gold Corporation, a dual-listed
(AIM:TSX.V) Northern Irish underground gold
developer.

David is Chair of the Board and also Chair of the
Technical Committee.

Neil was appointed to the Board in March
2023. He has held various roles in the min-
ing industry including Senior Vice President
Business Development at Allied Gold, where
he was responsible for the due diligence on
potential M&A, as well as providing a transi-
tional management function at newly ac-
quired assets.

Neil was heavily involved in the integration of
the Sadiola operation, in Mali, and the
Bonikro and Agbaou operations in Cote
D'lvoire.

Prior to this Neil was part of the executive
team at Sierra Rutile that turned the com-
pany’s operation from near-collapse to the
world's largest rutile producer, going on to
be sold to lluka Resources for over $400m.

His focus as CEO will be to conduct a review
of the available funding options of the busi-
ness to ensure the delivery of the Project as
outlined in the previously announced feasi-
bility study.

Nigel was appointed to the Board of the
Company in July 2021 as Chief Finan-
cial Officer. He has over 20 years' expe-
rience as a CFO within SMEs, PE
backed and | d busi

Martin is the founder and Manag-
ing Director of Vicarage Capital,
an FCA registered, full service
brokerage house which provides

across a variety of sectors including nat-
ural resources, construction, leisure

and technology. He has worked in multi-
ple growth and restructuring situations.
Nige! was interim CFO of Wolf Minerals
plc in 2017-2018.

His focus as CFO is to oversee all finan-
cial aspects of the Company as well as
securing funding, and internal auditing
to ensure continued good management
and profitability of the Company.

to junior and mid-cap
resources companies. Martin es-
tablished Vicarage Capital in
2003 and has advised many
companies on their AIM listings
and long-term mining strategies.

Martin is the Senior Independent
NED, Chair of the Remuneration
Committee and Interim Chair of
the Audit and Risk Committee

Richard joined the Company as a
Non-Executive Director in De-
cember 2020. He has over 20
years' experience in finance, both
in public and private markets,
and including running a special-
ised private resources fund in-
vesting in public and private min-
ing businesses worldwide. He in-
formally represents the Com-
pany’s shareholders Henry
Maxey and Eden Rock.

Richard acts as a Non-Independ-
ent Non-Executive Director
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Adrian Bougourd

Guy Edwards

Kevin Ross

Non-Executive Director (Appointed 4
September 2023)

Non-Executive Director (Appointed 4
September 2023)

Non-Executive Director (Ap-
pointed 4 September 2023)

Adrian is part of the Developed Markets team at
Lansdowne Partners (UK) LLP. Adrian joined
Lansdowne Partners in November 2010, having
previously worked as a European equity, credit &
event driven analyst at Perry Capital.

Adrian is a seasoned and highly experienced
senior financial analyst who has spent most of
the last 20years analysing and advising compa-
nies in the industrial and cyclical space across
the globe. At Perry, Adrian was responsible for
sourcing and analysing Public & Private Euro-
pean Investment opportunities across industries
and the capital structure. Prior to joining Perry
Capital in May 2006, Adrian worked at Merrill
Lynch, as an Assistant Vice President on the Eu-
ropean Transport & Leisure and Capital Goods
Teams.

Guy was CEO of Aggregate Industries UK
and prior to that CEO of Aggregate Indus-
tries USA, with turnovers in excess of £1bil-
lion respectively.

Guy's previous roles include Managing Di-
rector of Midland Quarry Products and
twenty five years of senior management ex-
perience with Hanson PLC. He has partici-
pated in numerous acquisitions both in the
UK and USA and has significant expertise in
aggregates and business development.

He is currently Integration Director of Sigma-
Roc PLC(AIM listed) and co-founder of sus-
tainability startup company XEROC.

Guy is a fellow of the Institute of Quarrying
and has a first class honours degree in
Quarry Engineering.

Kevin is a European Engineer (Eur Ing)
and from the Royal School of Mines with
a B.SC (Hons) in Mining Engineering.
He completed an M.B.A. at Cranfield
School of Management. He has held nu-
merous COO roles since 1999 for oper-
ating and development companies in
Greece, Australia and Canda.

Kevin has been part of the senior man-
agement team of two companies which
were acquired; Red Back Mining by Kin-
ross and Orca Gold by Perseus. He is
currently COO for Montage Gold Corp
developing a large scale gold project in
Cote d'lvoire.
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Mark Edward
Thompson

The Honourable
Francis Patrick Har-
court Vanden-
Bempde Johnstone

Grace Elanor Ste-
vens

Robert Norman Ashley

Maximillian (Max)
Campbell Denning

Executive Vice Chairman (In
office untll May 2023)

Non-Executive Director (In of-
fice until March 2023)

Independent Non-Executive
Director (In office until March
2023)

Independent Non-E: tive Chair-
man (In office until November 2022)

Chief Executive Officer (In office
until August 2022)

Mark co-founded the Company in
2019 and is an experienced inves-
tor, trader, and executive in the
natural resources sector with a
background managing large portfo-
lios of risk within the altemative as-
sets space, investing in mining
companies, providing strategic ad-
vice, and holding senior executive
positions.

Francis joined the Company as a
Non-Executive Director in May 2019
as part of his role as an Investment
Adviser to Baker Steel Resources
Trust Ltd, one of the Founder Share-
holders.

Grace joined the Company [n Sep-
tember 2021 as a Non-Executive Di-
rector and the Chair of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee. Grace
has worked for ten years at Legal &
General Group (L&G) where she has
been the Chief Taxation Officer since
2015.

Robert joined the Company in September
2021 as the Independent Non-Executive
Chairman until his retirement from the Board
in November 2022. Robert’s steered the
Company through a successful IPO, contrib-
uting considerably to the Company's journey
to restarting Hemerdon.

Max co-founded the Company in 2019
and has strong experience of Financlal,
Operational and Project start-ups as
well as intemational experience in Af-
rica, Southern America, and Europe,
mainly in Mining and Finance. As part
of his role as Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, Max led the purchase of
the Hemerdon Mine out of receiver-
ship.
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Corporate Governance Statement

Our Approach

Tungsten West recognises the importance of robust corporate governance and accountability to all its stakeholders. By promoting sound
govermnance, the risks set out on pages 18 to 22 can be mitigated and improved performance can be promoted, therefore, the Group view this as
an important factor in reaching its medium to long-term goals.

On 21 October 2021, Tungsten West plc listed on the London AIM. AIM Rule 26 requires quoted companies to adopt a recognised corporate
governance code and Tungsten West has therefore chosen to adopt the Quoted Companies Alliance’s (‘QCA') Corporate Governance Code for

Small and Mid-sized Quoted Companies.

Our QCA Code disclosures within this Annual Report are summarised in the table below.

Principle Disclosure within this report
Establish a strategy and business model which promote long-term  See Our Purpose, Values and —page 3
value for shareholders. Culture page J.
Seek to understand and meet shareholder needs and expecta- See Our Governance Structure — page 27
tions. .
Take into account wider stakeholder and social responsibilities Eﬁe aEiﬁ Sﬁ‘;ﬂ;’ gharkégsgj;t —page 8to 15
and their implications for long-term success. ange %tru clure pag .
Embed effective risk management, considering both opportunities  See Principal Risk and Uncer- —page 18 to 22
and threats, throughout the organisation. tainties pag *
Maintain the Board as a well-functioning, balanced team led by -
the Chair. See Board Composition - page 26 to 28.
Ensure that between them the Directors have the necessary up- . - _
to-date experience, skills and capabilities. See Board Composition page 27 to 29.
Evaluate Board performance based on clear and relevant objec-
tives, seeking continuous improvement. See Our Governance Structure - page 27.
Promote a corporate culture that is based on ethical values
and behaviours. See Our Governance Structure - page 27.
Maintain govemance structures and processes that are fit for pur- _
pose and support good decision-making by the Board. See Our Governance Structure page 28.
Communicate how the Company is govemed and is performing by
maintaining a dialogue with shareholders and other rele- See Our Governance Structure - page 27.

vant stakeholders.
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Board Composition

The Board comprises individuals with extensive and diverse experience, each contributing a wealth of knowledge and expertise to the Group.
The majority of the Board members possess backgrounds in the mining industry, along with expertise in complementary fields such as capital
markets, project execution, and financial risk and contro!.

Each Director maintains their skillset through a combination of continual professional development and attendance of relevant industry
conferences. All our Directors will retire on rotation at regular intervals in line with the Company’s Articles of Association.

The Board is actively exploring the expansion of its composition by appointing additional non-executive directors who possess valuable expertise,
particularly in the aggregates industry. By incorporating individuals with specific skills and backgrounds, the Board aims to cultivate a well-rounded
and balanced representation capable of effectively addressing emerging challenges and opportunities. This strategic move reflects the Board's
commitment to enhancing its collective knowledge and ensuring comprehensive decision-making processes.

The following table highlights each Director’s core competencies relevant to the successful development of the Group.

Key Strengths
Mining & Mineral Project Financial, Risk Corporate ESG Capital
Extraction Execution & Control Governance Markets
David Cather X X x X X
Neil Gawthorpe X X X X X X
Nigel Widdowson (in office until Au-

_gust 2023) X X X X X
Martin Wood x X x x x X
Richard M Maxey X x x x x
Adrian Bourgourd X X X x
Guy Edwards X X X X X X
Kevin Ross X X X X
Mark Thompson (In office until May .

2023) X x x X X

Francis Johnstone (In office until

March 2023) x X X X x

Grace Stevens (In office until March x x X

2023)

Robert Ashley (In office until Novem- x x x x

ber 2022)

Max Denning (In office until August

2022) X x X X x
The Board and Culture

For the Group to deliver on its strategy and to maximise shareholder value, the Board believes it must instil a corporate culture based on ethical
values and behaviours that align with its strategic objectives. The Board is therefore responsible for delivering this message down and throughout
the business, ensuring the whole Company respects and applies such behaviours in their day-to-day work.

Besides setting and delivering on the strategy of the Group, the Board is responsible for making key decisions on financial planning and on an
annual basis, will approve the Group budget. The Board routinely reviews short and medium term liquidity. The Board members have a wide range
of experience in financial planning and forecasting, therefore can draw upon their experiences to suitably challenge and critique the forecasts.

The Board typicafly convenes at least eight times a year. The CEO and CFO cary out their day-to-day duties at the Hemerdon Mine, meaning
they can remain close to the project and immediately react to any risks that threaten the success of the project.

A total of 16 Board meetings were held during the 2023 financial year. Due to the bespoke nature of the mine and plant upgrade, senior
technical and operations management are invited to attend Board meetings to provide updates on the project.

The Board considers that there is an appropriate balance between the Executives and Non-Executives (both independent and non-independent)
and that no individual or small group dominates the Board's decision making. The Group is committed to aligning with globally recognised
standards, such as the UN Sustainable Development Goals, for diversity both at Board level and across the organisation.

Following completion of the Fundraising, the Company has diversified its Board with the recruitment of additional non-executive Directors with
complementary skills and experience.
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Attendance at Board Meetings
The attendance of Board and Committee members who served during the year at the scheduled meetings and calls is shown below:

Board Audit & Risk Remuneration
David Cather 1616 4/4 212
Neil Gawthorpe 2/2
Nigel Widdowson (in office until August 2023) 16/16
Martin Wood 10/10
Richard M Maxey 14/16 2/2
Mark Thompson (in office until May 2023) 15/16
Francis Johnstone (In office until March 2023) 13/13 4/4
Grace Stevens (In office until March 2023) 13/13 4/4
Robert Ashley (In office until November 2022) 77 2/2
Max Denning (In office until August 2022) 373

Our Governance Structure

The Board is supported by three Committees, specifically the Audit & Risk, Remuneration and Technical Committees. In view of the size of the
Company, the Board will not at this time establish a nominations committee. However, the Board will consider the principles of the QCA Code
on nomination and succession matters.

Our governance arrangements are summarised below:

Tungsten West plc Board
The Board of Tungsten West is responsible for setting the vision and strategy for the Group to deliver value to all stakeholders by effectively
putting in place its business model.

Audit & Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee will comprise of three independent Non-Executive Directors led by Martin Wood, who will act as
interim Chair. Following the resignation of Grace Stevens and Francis Johnstone, the Board will look to appoint two additional Non-Executive
Directors to the Audit & Risk Committee.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is led by Martin Wood, who acts as Chair, David Cather and Richard Maxey.

The Remuneration Committee’s main function includes formulating and agreeing with the Board the framework for the remuneration of the
Executive Directors and overseeing the remuneration of senior management. The Committee also approves awards under the Company'’s short
and long-term incentive plans.

Technical Committee
The Technical Committee comprises David Cather, who acts as Chair.

The Technical Committee’s main functions include reviewing and monitoring the standards and procedures adopted for its operations to ensure
they meet legal requirements, under both local jurisdiction and international standards.
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Board Changes

. In March 2023, Neil GaMhome joined the executive team as CEO. The Board also strengthened their non-executive management with the
appointment of Martin Wood in November 2022. During the year, Max Denning stepped down as CEQ in August 2022 whilst Robert Ashley
retired from the Board in November.

Francis Johnstone and Grace Stevens also resigned as non-executive directors in March 2023.
Mark Thompson resigned as Executive Vice-Chairman in May 2023.
Nigel Widdowson resigned as CFO in August 2023.

Adrian Bougourd, Kevin Ross and Guy Edwards were appointed to the Board as Non-Executive Directors in September 2023.

The Board would like to thank alt departing directors for all their hard work in the foundation of the Company through to IPO.

Evaluation Of Board Performance
The Chairman is responsible for reviewing Board performance whilst the Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring executive
remuneration is benchmarked against competitors and motivates the executive team to tackle challenges ahead.

Support to Directors
The Board has the full support of the Company Secretary who acts as secretary to the Board and its Committees. The Board also retains the
services of external advisers who are on hand to all Board members to provide advice and support where required.

The Board receives regular and timely information on the Group's operational and financial perfformance in order to perform their functions.
Relevant and detailed information is circulated to all Directors ahead of Board and Committee meetings.

Shareholder Engagement

The Board maintains a clear and transparent dialogue with the shareholders of the Company. With institutional investors, engagement is led
through the Non-Executive Directors and the CFO whilst the Company aims to take on feedback from the wider shareholder and stakeholder
base through the Company’s Annual General Meeting and local feedback sessions with community stakeholders.

Approved and authorised by the Board on 13 September 2023
DocuSigned by:
Dasid. (atlr

BCB0BDSE78CA4S3...
Signed on their behalf by David Cather, Chairman
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Directors’ Report

The Directors of Tungsten West plc present their report and the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of the Group (Tungsten West and its subsidiaries) is the mining of tungsten and tin and the processing of secondary
aggregates at the Hemerdon Mine, Devon, UK.

Review of Business
A review of the current and future development of the Group’s business is given in the Strategic Report from pages 4 to 7.

Financial Risk Management
The Group is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks:

« Commodity price risk
» Foreign currency risk
» Credit risk

* Interest rate risk

« Liquidity risk

* Inflation risk

The Group undertakes certain poticies and procedures to mitigate these risks as much as is practicable, including purchasing in advance foreign
currency when exchange rates are favourable, using creditworthy financial institutions and using short-term deposits to manage interest rate
and liquidity risks.

As the Group transitions to production, it will continually review these risk mitigation policies to any potential exposure to commodity prices and
increase exposure to foreign exchange risks.

The Group is also exposed to financial risks that arise from its operations; these along with management’s policies surrounding financial risk
management are explained in Note 3 to the financial statements.

Financial Review
Please see the CFO’s report for a comprehensive financial review.

Dividends
The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend (2022: £Nil).

Going Concern

The Group is still in the pre-production phase of operations and meets its day to day working capital requirements by utilising cash reserves
from investment made in the Group. In October 2021, the Group raised £36.0 million net of fees by way of an initial public offering and at the
year-end, had £3.4 million in cash reserves.

Further to ongoing discussions with investors and debt providers, it is clear that access to the capital required to complete the project will be
significantly limited until the Group has secured the final permit required to operate the MPF and a Planning Pemission refevant to truck
movements.

These conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concem.

The Group has focussed its short term operating strategy simply on activities required to secure these permits, maintain the requirements for the
existing permits and secure funding to complete the project and recommence mining operations.

The Group completed the issue of a convertible loan note facility and an open offer in June 2023. These collectively raised £7.2 million gross of
fees. There is an additional facility in place to issue a further £2.0 million convertible loan note under the same terms dependant on investor
demand at the time. The Board consider this to be sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities as they fall due and to complete the short term
strategic objectives before December 2023. Opex has been significantly reduced and all material capital commitments deferred until these
objectives have been achieved. As at the end of August 2023 the Group had drawn Tranche A (£3.9 million) and Tranche B (£2.9 million) of the
convertible loan notes and as a result had £2.5 million in cash reserves. The Group anticipates issuing £2 million Tranche C notes in November
2023. There is not currently any commitment from existing or new noteholders to purchase any Tranche C notes. If the Group fails to find
purchasers for the Tranche C notes, then, in the absence of other new sources of finance, it would no longer be able to meet its liabilities as
they fall due in November 2023.

After the year end, the Group took measures to conserve cash by stopping Capex payments, restructuring the cost base and deferring certain
contracted payments to creditors. As a result of this, the Group has notified the Note Purchasers of multiple defaults on the terms of the Note
Purchase Agreement which relate to payments to creditors. There are detailed in Note 35 of this report. Under the terms of the Note Purchase
Agreement, The Noteholders can cancel any outstanding Notes under the Note Purchase agreement and demand immediate redemption unless
a waiver is in place. The redemption sum is two times the loan note principal outstanding along with any accrued PIK. A waiver for the breaches
in place at the time of signing these accounts has been issued by the noteholders. The waiver will expire on 31 January 2024 and going concem
is reliant on the Group complying with the terms of the waiver. The waiver gives the Board sufficient comfort that the group can both meet the
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terms of the original loan without further breaches and the terms of the waiver hence is a going concem. For the Group to remain a going con-
cern, the Group is reliant on continued support of the Noteholders by not exercising their rights under the Defaults should the defaults not be
remedied, or the note converted or redeemed, by 31 January 2024.

As identified earlier in this report, permitting, funding and macro-economic risks (Geopolitical, Economic instability) are the most significant risks
facing the Company. Lack of or delayed pemits, alongside volatile input costs, forex and commodity prices, will significantly increase the risk of
lack of access to capital. .

The Board is pursuing a strategy of completing the project on a capital build and operate basis. In light of the noise mitigation measures now
anticipated to be required for securing the MPF permit, the Board forecasts in excess of £60 million remaining expenditure prior to
recommencing operations. Various options for progress post January 2024 will be considered as further information becomes available through
the intervening period and are expected to result in the Group continuing as a going concem once the various permissions are secured.

Going concem is reliant on further funding being secured by the end of December 2023, without which the group would be unable to pay its
liabilities as they fall due beyond this point. Management have prepared one forecast as follows:

Model 1 — Additional funding closed December 2023

This scenario models management's intended plan of the expected future outflows required to complete the capital build once finance is
secured. Sensitivity analysis has been applied in terms of when the project would restart, availability of additional capital and the cashflow
demands for each scenario. As the terms of any finance package have not yet been agreed the mode! does not include costs of finance.

Management are satisfied there is sufficient headroom to service the projected cost of debt when this is agreed. As negotiations with finance
providers proceed the model will be updated with the anticipated finance costs to ensure that a sufficient level of liquidity is maintained.
Management is confident that the project finance can be secured to complete the capital build under the updated business plan once the
relevant permits are secured.

As a result, there is a material uncertainty over the granting of the permits and permissions required, within the necessary timeframes, to allow
the group to obtain the finance it requires. The Board's aim is that it will obtain the necessary permit and permissions and required funding,
allowing the group to operate as a going concem for the foreseeable future. Consequently, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing these financial statements despite the material uncertainty referred to above.

Share Capital
Details of the authorised and issued share capital are shown in Note 27.

Directors and Directors’ Interests
The Directors who served during the year, together with their beneficial interest in shares of the Company as of 31 March 2023 are as follows:

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Shares Optlons Shares Options
Francis Johnstone (In office until March 2023)
Richard M Maxey*
16,434,593 - 16,434,593 -

Maximillian (Max) Denning** (In office until August 2022)
12,368,569 5,371,586 12,649,819 5,371,586

Mark Thompson*"* (inoffice unti May 2023) 4,317,238 5121586 4,317,238 4,971,586

Anthony (Nigel) Widdowson (in office until August 2023) 400,000 300,000

Neil Gawthorpe (Appointed March 2023)

Martin Wood (Appointed November 2022)

Robert Ashley (In office until November 2022)

David Cather

Grace Stevens (In office until March 2023)

* Held by Richard Maxey’s brother, Henry Maxey.
** Held by Max Denning and his mother and father, Sarah Veronica Denning and Mark Edward Denning.
***Held by Mark Thompson and his wife, Nicola Zoe Haylings.

Directors’ Statement as to Disclosure of Information to Auditor
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The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are individually aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware and the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of the information.

Directors’ Indemnity Insurance
The Group provided Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance for both the current and prior period.

Political Donations

During the year the Group made payments totalling £31,750 (2022: £nil) that are considered to be political donations.£25,000 (2022: Nil) was
paid by Drakelands Restoration Limited to Conservative and Unionist Party. £6,570 was paid by Tungsten West in relation to travel costs for a
Conservative and Unionist Party Member of Parliament to visit the Hemerdon Mine. The payment is considered a political donation.

Future Developments
Details on future developments can beifound from pages 4 to 7.

Research and Development
The Group is currently engaged in research and development activities to increase operational efficiencies and address LFN issues presented
under the previous operator. Details on such activities can be found on pages 5 to 7 in the CEO Report.

Events after the Reporting Date
The events after the reporting date are set out in Note 35 to the Financial Statements.

Auditors

The auditor, PKF Francis Clark, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the Companies Act 2006. PKF Francis
Clark has signified its willingness to continue in office as auditor.

Approved and authorised by the Board on 13 September 2023

DocuSigned by:

Neil Ga @BCAZNGSACB...

Director

32



DocuSign Envelope ID: AA382E7D-F325-4430-90A8-9BC6CE4DE22F

Tungsten West plc Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have elected to prepare

the financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted Intemnational Accounting Standards. Under company law the Directors must not

approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company

and of the profit or loss of the Group and Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,

« make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+ state whether applicable UK-adopted Intemnational Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements; and '

- prepare the financial statements on the going concem basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s and the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and the Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and the
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to the members of Tungsten West plc

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Tungsten West Plc (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023, which comprise the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted intemational
accounting standards.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

+ give a true and fair view of the state of the group's affairs as at 31 March 2023 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;
* have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted intemational accounting standards; and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for Opinion
'We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK,
including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
An Overview of the Scope of our Audit
We planned and performed our audit by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including the accounting processes and
controls, and the industry in which it operates. The Group comprises the following components (all 100% subsidiaries based in the UK):

« Tungsten West pic (“Parent company”)
»  Tungsten West Services Limited

= Drakelands Restoration Limited

» Aggregates West Limited

All components were subject to full scope audits carried out by the group audit team. Our audit work at the component leve! is executed at levels
of materiality appropriate for such components, which range from 5% to 100% of Group materiality.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the
current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including
those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matter described in the material uhcenainty related to going concem section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

KEY AUDIT MATTER RESPONSE AND CONCLUSION

Management override of controls Our audit work included:

» Consideration of the appropriateness of journal entries made during the year, and those
The Group continues to require significant posted to adjust the management accounts to produce the final accounts.
further investment to fund the rebuild of » Challenge of the assumptions underlying material provisions at the balance sheet date to
the processing plant. There is a significant ensure that they are included on a consistent basis with IFRS.

risk of management bias to manipulate * Review of accounting estimates for potential biases.

results in order to secure investment * Review of the disclosure of the results to check that they are fair and balanced.

during the year and/or potentially further  As a resuit of the procedures performed, we are satisfied that we did not identify any material
finance in the future. bias in the determination of estimates or management override of controls.

Impairment of property, plant and Our audit work included:

equipment and Intangible assets . . . .
+ Discussions and enquiries with management.

The market capitalisation of the Group has + Physical inspection of the property, plant and equipment within the processing plant.
been below the net asset position which is Comparison of management's inputs to supporting evidence and challenge of the
an indicator of impairment. This event reasonableness of assumptions underlying management's new plan and the calculation of
indicates a risk that the property, plant and value in use.
equipment or intangible assets held on the + Reperformance of elements of management's value in use calculation and stress testing
group balance sheet could be impaired. for key assumptions.
« Assessment and challenge of management's sensitivity analysis
» Review of the disclosures regarding impairment considerations made by management
together with the status of the revised plans.
As a result of the procedures performed, we are satisfied that no further material impairment
to the carrying value of either property, plant and equipment or intangible assets is required.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER RESPONSE AND CONCLUSION

Restoratlon provision Our audit work included:

The group holds a restoration provisionas + Assessment and challenge of the key assumptions applied by management. Cross-
a result of the contractual obligation to checking consistency of assumptions with business forecasts.

restore the mining site back to its original « Inspection of third party estimates of the expected restoration costs.

state once mining ceases. The provisionis * Reperformance of management's calculation.

equal to the expected outflows that willbe + Assessment of the accuracy and completeness of accounts disclosure in the light of
incurred at the end of the mine's useful life the above.

discounted to present value. This is a As a result of the procedures performed, we are satisfied that the restoration provision is
significant accounting estimate with a accounted for and disclosed correctly.

number of uncertain underiying

assumptions such as discount rate, life of

mine and the estimate of restoration costs.

Capitalisation of costs Our audit work included:

The Group’s primary focus at the current  « Inspecting documentation relating to a sample of fixed asset additions.

time is the renovation and commissioning + Recalculation of a sample of capitalised staff costs with reference to payroll records.

of the extraction plant and has capitalised < Discussions with project staff directly to determine if costs capitalised were

significant associated costs within directly attributable.

property plant and equipment under [AS16. <« Assessment and challenge of the key assumptions applied by management, in particular
L. - surrounding staff utilisation rates and how the criteria of IAS16 have been met. )

The rigk is that costs are capitalised that . peyiew of the disclosures made of the nature of the costs capitalised.

are not directly attributable to the project  5g 5 result of the procedures performed, we are satisfied that property, plant and equipment

and will not result in future economic has been recognised in line with IAS16.
benefits flowing to the Group. This is a key

area of judgement.

Our Application of Materiality

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be matenial if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. We use quantitative thresholds of materiality, together with
qualitative assessments in planning the scope of our audit, determining the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and in evaluating
the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

MATERIALITY MEASURE GROUP
Overall materiality £428,000
Performance materiality £257,000
Basis for determination Overall materiality was set as 1% of the Group's gross assets. As the Group is not currently

making significant commercial Tungsten sales, stakeholder sensitivity will centre on the assets
under the control of the Group (freehold property, leasehold property, the processing plant and
machinery and the mining licence enabling rights and access to the Tungsten in the Drakelands
mine). Consequently we have deemed it appropriate to set Group materiality on a gross assets
basis. Performance materiality is set as 60% of overall materiality based on our assessment of
inherent risk.

Threshold used for communicating £22,000
unadjusted differences

Range of materiality for the 4 components subject to full scope audits: £20,000 - £428,000 and used a mix of Gross assets and Profit/loss be-
fore tax to determine materiality depending on the nature of the component operations.

Material uncertainty relating to going concern

We draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements, which indicates that the group has yet to secure a key pemit necessary to obtain the
finance it needs to complete the plant rebuild and continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. As stated in Note 2, these events
or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2 indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
group'’s ability to continue as a going concem. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

In auditing the financial statements we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concem basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:
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¢ Review and challenge of management’s assessment of going concem (including assessment at the planning stage of the audit process).
Due to the project requiring a pemit to gain further financing we focussed on the forecasts provided by management on the capital build
basis. These forecasts assume the permit and further financing will be received by the end of 2023. Our work included assessing the
amount of cash outflows in the supporting forecast models, with reference to historical actual results and sensitivities applied. We also
checked the integrity and mathematical accuracy of the models used.

¢ Assessment of the consistency of management’s forecasts with known committed future expenditure.

« Consideration of the going concem related disclosures in the financial statements to ensure they are appropriate.

o Review of the Convertible Loan Note facility and specific terms included in the agreement as well as a review of the signed waiver put in
place to cover the breaches in these terms.

« Consideration of the post balance sheet events disclosure for consistency with our review and the potential impact on going concem.

Our responsibiliies and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concem are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other Information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on Other Matters Prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

« the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

= the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified
any material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in.

our opinion:

» adequate accounting records have not been kept, or retums adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us;
or

« the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retums; or

« certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 33, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such intemal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concem basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate
the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities,
outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of imegularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the group and the industry in which it operates. We
considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements, including, but not limited to the
reporting framework (IFRS and Companies Act 2006) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK. In addition, we considered
provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be
fundamental to the group's ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty, including compliance with the Health and Safety at Work etc Act
1974 and the ongoing monitoring requirements imposed by the UK Environment Agency under the Environment Act 1995.

As part of our planning procedures, we assessed the risk of any non-compliance with laws and regulations on the entity’s ability to continue
operating and the risk of material misstatement to the accounts. Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-
compliance with such laws and regulations. Our procedures involved the following:

» Review of legal and professional costs to identify legal costs in respect of non compliance;

36



DocuSign Envelope ID: AA382E7D-F325-4430-90A8-9BC6CE4DE22F

« Discussions and enquiries with management whether there have been any known instances, allegations or suspicions of fraud or non
compliance with laws and regulations;
*» Review of board minutes and correspondence with regulators where available including the UK Environment Agency.

We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override
of controls) and determined that the principal risks were related to fraudulent financial reporting. Our procedures involved the following:

+ Review of nominal journal entries for reasonableness;

* Review of significant accounting estimates for bias, in particular the key accounting estimates set out in Note 2.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including those leading to a material
misstatement in the financial statements. This risk increases the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events
and transactions reflected in the financial statements as we are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate
concealment, collusion, omission or misrepresentation.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: https://www.frc.org.uk/auditors/audit-
assurance/auditor-s-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-fi/description-of-the-auditor's-responsibilities-for. This description forms part of our
auditor's report.

Use of our Report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an audit report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent pemmitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company
and the company’s members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

X frasi Clock

Duncan Leslie .
(Senior Statutory Auditor)

PKF Francis Clark

Melville Building East

Unit 18, 23 Royal William Yard
Plymouth

Devon

PL1 3GW

Date: 13/09/2023
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 March 2023

Note 202: 202:
Revenue 5 626,460 673,509
Cost of sales (1,984,983) (4,028,123)
Gross loss (1,358,523) (3,354,614)
Administrative expenses (10,160,088) (7,998,774)
Other operating income 6 18,947 4,237
Other gains/(losses) : 7 710,710 (846,373)
Operating loss 8 (10,788,954) (12,195,524)
Finance income 454,196 120,002
Finance costs (495,279) (913,466)
Net finance cost 9 (41,083) (793,464)
Loss before tax (10,830,037) (12,988,988)
Income tax credit 13 544,602 -
Loss for the year (10,285,435) (12,988,988)
Total comprehensive loss (10,285,435) (12,988,988)
Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company (10,285,435) (12,988,988)
£ £
Basic and diluted loss per share 14 (0.06) (0.11)

The above results were derived from continuing operations.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position TUNGSTEN

Year ended 31 March 2023

WIEST

31 March 31 March
2023 2022
Note £ £
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 19,054,864 8,469,610
Right-of-use assets 16 2,022,672 1,743,736
Intangible assets 17 5,090,016 4,993,254
Deferred tax assets 13 1,390,346 1,397,789
Escrow funds receivable 19 5,146,986 8,370,024
32,704,884 24,974,413
Current assets
Inventories 22 114,173 156,944
Trade and other receivables 20 6,163,593 3,827,509
Cash and cash equivalents 21 3,438,018 28,755,388
' 9,715,784 32,739,841
Total assets 42,420,668 57,714,254
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 27 1,805,516 1,793,682
Share premium 51,882,761 51,610,414
Share option reserve 357,366 241,861
Warrant reserve 740,867 1,408,730
Retained eamings (23,805,018) (14,187,446)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 30,981,492 40,867,241
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 24 1,901,583 1,440,630
Provisions 25 5,701,771 9,526,485
Deferred tax liabilities 13 1,390,346 1,397,789
8,993,700 12,364,904
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 2,330,603 4,289,623
Loans and borrowings 24 114,873 192,486
2,445,476 4,482,109
Tota! liabilities 11,439,176 16,847,013
Total equity and liabilities 42,420,668 57,714,254

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 13 September 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

DocuSigned by:
Neil Gawthorpe OQ _
Director

1CBABCA201654CB...
Company Registration Number: 11310159
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2023

TUNGSTEN

WEEST

Share Share option Warrant Retained

Share capital premium reserve reserve earnings Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

At 1 April 2021 6,856 12,327,484 67,840 754,586 (11,413,116) 1,743,650
Loss for the year - - - - (12,988,988) (12,988,988)
Total comprehensive income - - - - (12,988,988) (12,988,988)
Capital reduction of share premium account - (10,000,000) - - 10,000,000 -
Issue of bonus shares 752,513 (752,513) - - - -
Conversion of convertible debt 359,352 10,421,208 - - ~ 10,780,560
New share capital subscribed 674,961 40,310,822 - - ~ 40,985,783
Issue of warrants - (696,587) - 785,144 - 88,557
Exercise of warrants - - - (131,000) 131,000 -
Share options charge — - 298,878 - - 298,878
Forfeiture of share options - - (41,199) - ~ (41,199)
Exercise of share options - - (83,658) - 83,658 -
At 31 March 2022 1,793,682 51,610,414 241,861 1,408,730 (14,187,446) 40,867,241
Loss for the year ' - - - - (10,285,435) (10,285,435)
Total comprehensive income - - - - (10,285,435) (10,285,435)
New share capital subscribed 11,834 272,347 - - - 284,181
Exercise of warrants - - - (334,378) 334,378 -
Expired warrants - - - (333,485) 333,485 -
Share options charge - - 134,610 - - 134,610
Forfeiture of share options - - (19,105) - - (19,105)
At 31 March 2023 1,805,516 51,882,761 357,366 740,867 (23,805,018) 30,981,492
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Fiows

Year ended 31 March 2023

TUNGSTEN|\

2023 2022
Note £ £
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year (10,285,435)  (12,988,988)
Adjustments to cash flows from non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation 8 514,394 209,233
Loss on disposal of right to use asset 8 124,528 -
Loss on disposal of intangible asset 8 73,401 -
Impairment of asset under construction 8 108,947 -
Fair value losses on escrow account 7 3,495,064 1,783,221
Fair value gains on restoration provision 7 (4,205,774) (786,849)
Finance income 9 (454,196) (120,002)
Finance costs 9 495,279 913,466
Share-based payment transactions 115,505 174,021
Founder incentives - (149,999)
Impact of foreign exchange 74,724 -
Income tax credit 13 (544,602) -
(10,488,165)  (10,965,897)
Working capital adjystments
Income tax received 544,602 -
(Increase) in trade and other receivables 20 (2,336,084) (3,283,213)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 23 (1,959,020) 2,952,165
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 42,771 (156,944)
Net cash outflow from operating activities (14,195,896) (11,453,889)
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 9 99,082 1,134
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 15  (10,892,254) (4,203,803)
Proceeds from sale of vehicle 4,167 -
Acquisitions of intangibles 17 (191,523) (80,000)
Net cash outflows from investing activities (10,980,528) (4,282,669)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid 9 (4,084) (4,955)
Proceeds from issue of Ordinary Shares, net of issue costs - 41,021,204
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants 284,181 126,577
Proceeds from the exercise of share options - 3,472
Payments to hire purchase (63,294) -
Payments to lease liabilities (357,749) (153,932)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows from financing activities (140,946) 40,992,366
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents (25,317,370) 25,255,808
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 28,755,388 3,499,580
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 3,438,018 28,755,388
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1 General information
Tungsten West plc (‘the Company’) is a public limited company, incorporated in England and Wales and domiciled in the United Kingdom.

The address of its registered The principal place of

office is: business is:
Shakespeare Martineau LLP Hemerdon Mine
6th Floor Drakelands

60 Gracechurch Street Plympton
tondon Devon

EC3V OHR PL7 5BS

United Kingdom United Kingdom

2 Accounting policies

Summary of significant accounting policies and key accounting estimates

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation
The Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with iIntemational Accounting Standards as adopted in the United Kingdom
(‘UK adopted IAS') and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 that are applicable to companies which apply UK adopted IAS.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is the functional currency of the Group and Company.
Going concern

The Group is still in the pre-production phase of operations and meets its day to day working capital requirements by utilising cash reserves
from investment made in the Group. In October 2021, the Group raised £36.0 million net of fees by way of an initial public offering and at the
year-end, had £3.4 million in cash reserves.

Further to ongoing discussions with investors and debt providers, it is clear that access to the capital required to complete the project will be
significantly limited until the Group has secured the final permit required to operate the MPF and a Planning Pemission relevant to truck
movements.

These conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The Group has focussed its short term operating strategy simply on activities required to secure these permits, maintain the requirements for the
existing permits and secure funding to complete the project and recommence mining operations.

The Group completed the issue of a convertible loan note facility and an open offer in June 2023. These collectively raised £7.2 million gross of
fees. There is an additional facility in place to issue a further £2.0 million convertible loan note under the same terms dependant on investor
demand at the time. The Board consider this to be sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities as they fall due and to complete the short tem
strategic objectives before December 2023. Opex has been significantly reduced and all material capital commitments deferred until these
objectives have been achieved. As at the end of August 2023 the Group had issued Tranche A (£3.9million) and Tranche B (£2.9 million) of the
CLN and had £2.5 million in cash reserves. The Group anticipates issuing £2 million Tranche C notes in November 2023. There is not currently
any commitment from existing or new noteholders to purchase any Tranche C notes. If the Group fails to find purchasers for the Tranche C
notes, then, in the absence of other new sources of finance, it would no longer be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due in November 2023.

After the year end, the Group took measures to conserve cash by stopping capex payments, restructuring the cost base and deferring certain
contracted payments to creditors. As a result of this, the Group has notified the Note Purchasers of multiple defaults on the terms of the Note
Purchase Agreement which relate to payments to creditors. There are detailed in note 35 this report. Under the terms of the Note Purchase
Agreement, the Noteholders can cancel any outstanding Notes under the Note Purchase Agreement and demand immediate redemption unless
a waiver is in place. The redemption sum is two times the loan note principal outstanding along with any accrued PIK. A waiver for the breaches
in place at the time of signing these accounts has been issued by the noteholders. The waiver will expire on 31 January 2024 and going concem
is reliant on the Group complying with the terms of the waiver. The waiver gives the Board sufficient comfort that the group can both meet the
terms of the original loan without further breaches and the terms of the waiver hence is a going concem. For the Group to remain a going con-
cern, the Group is reliant on continued support of the Noteholders by not exercising their rights under the Defaults should the defaults not be
remedied, or the note converted or redeemed, by 31 January 2024.

As identified earlier in this report, permitting, funding and macro-economic risks (Geopolitical, Economic instability) are the most significant risks
facing the Company. Lack of or delayed permits, alongside volatile input costs, forex and commodity prices, will significantly increase the risk of
lack of access to capital.

The Board is pursuing a strategy of completing the project on a capital build and operate basis. In light of the noise mitigation measures now
anticipated to be required for securing the MPF pemit, the Board forecasts in excess of £60 million remaining expenditure prior to
recommencing operations. Various options for progress post January 2024 will be considered as further information becomes available through
the intervening period and are expected to result in the Group continuing as a going concem once the various permissions are secured.
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Going concem is reliant on further funding being secured by the end of December 2023, without which the group would be unable to pay its
liabilities as they fall due beyond this point. Management have prepared one forecast as follows:

Model 1 - Additional funding closed December 2023

This scenario models management's intended plan of the expected future outflows required to complete the capital build once finance is
secured. Sensitivity analysis has been applied in terms of when the project would restart, availability of additional capital and the cashfiow
demands for each scenario. As the terms of any finance package have not yet been agreed the model does not include costs of finance.

Management are satisfied there is sufficient headroom to service the projected cost of debt when this is agreed. As negotiations with finance
providers proceed the mode! will be updated with the anticipated finance costs to ensure that a sufficient level of liquidity is maintained.
Management is confident that the project finance can be secured to complete the capital build under the updated business plan once the
relevant permits are secured.

As a result, there is a material uncertainty over the granting of the permits and permissions required, within the necessary timeframes, to allow
the group to obtain the finance it requires. The Board’s aim is that it will obtain the necessary permit and permissions and required funding,
allowing the group to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable future. Consequently, they continue to adopt the going concem basis in
preparing these financial statements despite the material uncertainty referred to above.

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings drawn up to
31 March 2023.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govem the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for business combinations that result in the acquisition of subsidiaries of the Group. The
cost of a business combination is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
as at the date of exchange. |dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, including deferred tax if required. Any excess of the cost of the business
combination over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised as
goodwill.

Changes in accounting policy
None of the standards, interpretations and amendments effective for the first ime from 1 April 2022 have had a material effect on the financial
statements.

Revenue recognition

In the year revenue has mainly related to the sale of low grade concentrate which was left behind by the previous mining operator. This is
recognised upon pick up by customers at the fair value of consideration receivable at that date. The Group has not yet commenced commercial
sales of tungsten and tin.

Tax
Income tax expense consists of the sum of current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported for accounting purposes because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.

Current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. A provision is
recognised for tax matters that are uncertain if it is considered probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The
provision is measured at the best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of tax
professionals within the Company.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The Group has submitted research and development tax credit claims. The Group accounts for a claim at the point it considers the claim to be
unchallenged by HMRC.

Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings are stated at the cost less any depreciation or impairment losses subsequently accumulated (cost model). Land and
buildings have been uplifted to fair value on consolidation.

Plant and equipment is stated in the statement of financial position at cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
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accumulated impairment losses.

The asset under construction relates to costs incurred to upgrade the mineral processing facility and in accordance with IAS 16, have capitalised
costs if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably.

Depreciation

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than land and assets under construction over their estimated useful lives,
as follows:

Asset class Depreciation method and rate

Land None

Building 2% Straight Line

Fumiture, fittings and equipment 5% — 20% Straight Line

Other property, plant and equipment 5%— 33% Straight Line

Motor vehicles 33% Straight Line
Computer equipment 33% Straight Line
Goodwill

Goodwill is recognised at cost and reviewed for impairment annually.

Intangible assets
Contractual mining rights as set out in the mining lease are recognised as a separate intangible asset on consolidation under IFRS 3.

The mining rights are subject to amortisation over the useful life of the mine which is 27 years (2022: 23 years). Amortisation will be charged
from the date the mine is brought into use.

Software is amortised on a straight-line basis using a rate of 33%.

Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets consist of a lease for the Hemerdon Mine and three property leases under IFRS 16. These assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

Research and development activities

All research costs are expensed. Costs related to the development of products are capitalised when they meet the following conditions:

(i) Iis technically feasible to complete the development so that the product will be available for use or sale.

(i) Itis intended to use or sell the product being developed.

(iii) The Group is able to use or sell the product being developed.

(iv) It can be demonstrated that the product will generate probable future economic benefits.

(v) Adequate technical, financial and other resources exist so that product development can be completed and the product subsequently used
or sold.

(vi) Expenditure attributable to the development can be reliably measured.

All other development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumutated impairment losses (cost model). Amortisation
is recognised using the straight-line basis and results in the carrying amount being expensed in profit or loss over the estimated useful lives
which range from 5 to 15 years.

Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
Costs relating to the exploration for and evaluation on mineral resources are expensed.

Cash and cash equivaients
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade receivables

Trade and other receivables where payment is due within one year do not constitute a financing transaction and are recorded at the
undiscounted amount expected to be received, less attributable transaction costs. Any subsequent impairment is recognised as an expense in
profit or loss.

All trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, net of impairment.
Escrow funds
These funds are held with a third party to be released to the Group as it settles its abligation to restore the mining site once operations cease.

The debtor has been discounted to present value assuming the funds will be receivable in 27 years’ time which assumes a 27-year useful life of
mining operations.
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Trade payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value less attributable transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost.

Convertible debt
The redemption of convertible debt does not give rise to a fixed number of shares on conversion and so is recognised as a liability with no equity
element initially recorded at the amount of proceeds received. Interest compounds annually but shall not be payable until the maturity date.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the .
Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date and are
discounted to present value where the effect is material.

This includes a provision for the obligation to restore the mining site once mining ceases.

Leases

At inception of the contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. It recognises a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all material lease arrangements in which it is the lessee. The right-of-use assets and the lease
liabilities are presented as separate line items in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by
using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. It is subsequently
measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Short-term or low-value leases, in accordance with the available exemption in IFRS 16, are not capitalised on the statement of financial position
and instead recognised as an expense, on a straight-line or other systematic basis.

Share capital

Ordinary Shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other resources received or
receivable, net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. If payment is deferred and the time value of money is material, the initial
measurement is on a present value basis.

Share options

Share options granted to shareholders classified as equity instruments are accounted for at the fair value of cash received or receivable. Share
options granted to shareholders which represent a future obligation for the Company outside of its control are recognised as a financial liability
at fair value through profit and loss.

Share options granted to employees are fair valued at the date of grant with the cost recognised over the vesting period. If the employee is
employed in a subsidiary company, the cost is added to the investment value, in the financial statements of the parent, and the expense
recognised in staff costs in the statements of the subsidiary.

Warrants issued in retum for a service are classified as equity instruments and measured at the fair value of the service received. Where the
service received relates to the issue of shares the cost is debited against the proceeds received in share premium.

Defined contribution pension obligation

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which pension contributions are paid into a separate entity and the group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the curent and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans contributions are paid into publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory or
contractual basis. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. If contribution payments exceed the
contribution due for service, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Financial Instruments

Initial recognition i

Financial assets and financial liabilities comprise all assets and liabilities reflected in the statement of financial position, although excluding
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, right of use assets, inventories, deferred tax assets, prepayments, deferred tax liabilities and
the mining restoration provision. The Group recognises financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, representing the proceeds received
net of premiums, discounts and transaction costs that are directly attributable to the financial liability.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets and financial liabilities classified as fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’) are
recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the financial assets or financial liabilities. All regular
way purchases and sales of other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the settlement date, i.e., the date on which the asset
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or liability is received from or delivered to the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
Subsequent to initial measurement, financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at either amortised cost or fair value.

In particular the Group has previously recognised a financial liability arising from the founder share incentives at fair value. Subsequent
movements in fair value are recognised through profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when:

= the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire;

« it transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial asset are transferred; or

» the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial
asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the sum of the consideration received is
recognised as a gain or loss in the profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expire.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of certain
financial assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

The use of estimates and judgements is principally limited to the determination of provisions for impairment and the valuation of
financial instruments as explained in more detail below:

Significant accounting judgements

Impairment of non-current assets

To consider the impairment of the Group’s non-current assets, management has calculated a value in use of the Group's cash-generating unit
which comprises the Hemerdon Mine. This was determined using a discounted cashflow approach, supported by project cashflow forecasts
prepared by management. The value of assets impacted is £24.1 million.

The previous model under the Bankable Feasibility Study (‘BFS') has been adapted to reflect the changes in inputs and assumptions as a result
of the project re-evaluation. The inputs and key assumptions that were used in the detemmination of value in use were discount rate, metal
prices, metal recoveries, probability of financing, probability of permit award and foreign exchange.

Discounted cashflows are based on future forecasts which reflect uncertainty. Therefore, management has prepared a sensitised discounted
cashflow calculation. The underlying assumptions that were stress tested include the discount rate, FX and metal prices and recoveries.

Management were satisfied in the recoverability of the Group’s assets and no impairment was required.

Capitalisation of research and development costs

The Directors have reviewed any costs relating to evaluating the technical feasibility of processing the extracted tungsten ore and have
expensed these costs in line with the current policy. The Directors have also reviewed research and development costs and concluded that
these costs fail to meet the criteria set out in IAS 38 for the capitalisation of development costs as the Directors still consider that they are in the
research phase. The Group will commence capitalisation of development costs at the point when available finance has been secured to
complete the project in accordance with IAS 38. Development costs that are capitalised in accordance with the requirements of IFRS are not
treated, for dividend purposes, as a realised loss. The Group has currently capitalised no research and development costs in accordance with
IAS 38. The Group has only capitalised costs associated with the tangible improvement and instaliation of property, plant and ‘equipment under
IAS 16.

Capitalisation of asset under construction costs -

The Directors have reviewed any costs relating to the upgrade of the minera! processing facility in accordance with IAS 16 and have capitalised
costs if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably. At the
year end, £13.6 million (2022: £3.9 million) of costs have been capitalised.

Founder options

The Directors consider the non-EMI portion of the founder options meet the definition of equity in the financial statements of the Group on the
basis that the ‘fixed for fixed' condition is met and that they were awarded to shareholders relating to investing in the share capital of the Group.
The accounting treatment has been applied in accordance with IAS 32, which requires initial recognition at fair value of consideration paid less
costs. As there was no consideration received at inception, the value of the options is £Nil. When exercised the shares are recognised at option
price.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Restoration provision

The restoration provision is the contractual obligation to restore the mining site back to its original state once mining ceases. The provision is
equal to the expected outflows that will be incurred at the end of the mine's useful life discounted to present value. As the restoration work will
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predominantly be completed at the end of the mine's useful life, these calculations are subject to a high degree of estimation uncertainty. The
key assumptions that would lead to significant changes in the provision are the discount rate, useful life of the mine and the estimate of the
restoration costs.

A 1% change in the discount rate on the Group's restoration estimates would result in an impact of £1.2 million to 1.6 million (2022: £1.9 million)
on the restoration provision. A 5% change in cost on the Group's restoration estimates would result in an impact of £0.3 million (2022: £0.5
million) on the provision for restoration.

More information on the restoration provision is disclosed in Note 25.

Escrow account
These are funds being held under escrow with a third party and will be released back to the Company on the cessation of mining once
restoration works have been completed.

The key assumptions that would lead to significant changes in the escrow account fair value are the discount rate and the useful life of the mine.

A 1% change in the discount rate on the Group's escrow account estimate would result in an impact of £1.1 million to £1.5 million (2022: £1.7
million) on the escrow account valuation. A one-year change in useful mining life would result in an impact of £0.2 million (2022: £0.1 million) on
the escrow account valuation.

More information on the escrow account is disclosed in Note 19.

Discount rates

The Group has had to assess reasonable discount rates based on market factors to use under IFRS. These discount rates have been used on
the right-of-use assets, escrow funds, the restoration provision and share based payments. The discount rate on the right-of-use asset is the
rate for an equivalent debt instrument. The escrow funds are discounted at the risk free rate which is the yield on an equivalent long-term UK
government bond. The restoration provision is discounted at the risk-free rate plus a premium based on the specific risk associated with this
liability.

The UK risk-free rate increased over the financial year to 3.7% (2022: 2.0%).

3 Financial risk management
Group
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to financial risks and the Group’s management of capital.

Credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties (banks and debtors) and it
obtains sufficient collateral, where appropriate, to mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults. The most significant credit risk relates to
customers that may default in making payments for goods they have purchased. To date the Group has only made a small number of sales and
therefore the credit risk exposure has been low.

Liquidity risk
The Directors regutarly monitor forecast and actual cash flows and to match the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities to
ensure proper liquidity risk management for the day-to-day working capital requirements.

In the view of the Directors, the key risk to liquidity is raising the additional capital required to meet its estimated Capex spend. The Group's
continued future operations depend on the ability to raise sufficient capital through the issue of debt. At present the Group does not have
sufficient capital to fund its estimated Capex spend therefore there is a liquidity risk which would result in the Group having to pause its future
operations were it to not raise the necessary capital. At present, the Group is in discussions with financing partners to provide this additional
capital as noted in the previous going concern policy.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing borrowings. The interest rates and terms of
repayment are disclosed in Note 24 to the financial statements. The Company's policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available
for all liabilities. Except as outlined above, the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group in the future will also be exposed to exchange rate risk on the basis that tungsten prices are principally denominated in US Dollar.
The Group will seek to manage this risk through the supply contracts it agrees with future customers.

The Group does not use any derivative instruments to reduce its economic exposure to changes in interest rates or foreign currency exchange
rates at the current time.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to the price fluctuation of its primary products being tungsten and tin. Given the Group is currently in the development
phase and is not yet producing any revenue, the costs of managing exposure to commodity price risk exceed any potential benefits. The
Directors monitor this risk on an ongoing basis and will review this as the Group moves towards production.

Inflation Risk
The Group is exposed to inflationary pressures that impact the core materials required for the operations, mainly being reagents, power and

47



DocusSign Envelope ID: AA382E7D-F325-4430-90A8-9BC6CE4DE22F

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements N s NI
* Year ended 31 March 2023 TUNGSTEN|WIEST

diesel costs. The Directors monitor this risk on an ongoing basis and will review this as the group moves towards production.
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The Chief Economic Decision Maker of the Group is the Board of Directors which considers that the Group is comprised of one operating
segment representing the Group’s mining activities at the Hemerdon Mine. All operations and assets are located in the United Kingdom and all

revenues are originated in the United Kingdom.

Revenue from customers accounting for 10% or more of Group revenue was as follows:

2023 2022
£ £
Customer A 118,276 384,000
Customer B - 83,000
Customer C - 144,000
Customer D 508,184 -
5 Revenue from contracts with customers
The analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year from continuing operations is as follows:
2023 2022
£ £
Tungsten 508,184 232,940
Aggregates 118,276 440,569
Sale of goods 626,460 673,509
6 Other income
The analysis of the Group's other operating income for the year is as follows:
2023 2022
£ £
Sale of scrap metal 13,962 4,237
Sublease rental income 4,985 -
18,947 4,237
7 Other gains and losses
The analysis of the Group's other gains and losses for the year is as follows:
2023 2022
£ £
Gain on restoration provision due to change in discount rate 4,205,774 786,849
Loss on escrow account due to change in discount rate (3,495,064) (1,783,221)
Gains/(losses) on founder share incentives - 149,999
Other gains and losses 710,710 (846,373)
See note 19 and note 25 for further details on other gains and losses on the restoration provision and the escrow account.
8 Operating loss
Arrived at after charging/(crediting):
2023 2022
£ £
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 276,995 101,464
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 216,039 101,169
Loss on disposal of right to use asset 124,528 -
Impaiment of asset under construction 108,947 -
Amortisation of intangibles 21,360 6,599
Staff costs 4,593,833 2,465,924
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9 Finance income and costs

2023 . 2022
£ £
Finance income
Notional interest income on the escrow funds receivable ) 272,026 94,775
Other interest income 99,082 1,134
Fo-reign exchange gains 83,088 24,093
454,196 120,002
Finance costs .
Interest expense on other financing liabilities (101,772) (556,558)
Notional cost on the restoration provision (381,060) (348,507)
Other interest - (1,133)
Bank charges (4,083) (3,823)
Foreign exchange losses (8,364) (3,445)
Total finance costs (495,279) (913,466)
Net finance costs (41,083) (793,464)
10 Staff costs
The aggregate payroll costs (including Directors’ remuneration) were as follows:
2023 2022
£ £
Wages and salaries 3,888,672 2,114,626
Social security costs 427,748 234915
Pension costs, defined contribution scheme 161,908 116,383
Share based payment 115,505 298,878
Amounts capitalised to asset under construction 968,262 988,917
5,562,095 3,753,719
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:
2023 2022
No. No.
Project, maintenance, administration and support 74 52
Directors 7 6
81 58
11 Directors’ remuneration
The Directors’ remuneration for the year was as follows:
2023 2022
£ £
Remuneration 873,029 524,125
Pension contribution 21,019 13,974
Benefits in kind 2,340 7,483
Total cash remuneration 896,388 545,582
Share-based payment 66,993 182,997
Total remuneration 963,381 728,579
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Included in the remuneration above was £Nil (2022: £Nil) paid in shares rather than cash.

Remuneration by each Director is as follows:
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2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023

Share-based
Salary Pension Loss of office Benefits payment Total
£ £ £ £ £ £
Francis Johnstone 20,000 - - - - 20,000
Stephen Fabian - - - - - -
Richard M Maxey 20,000 - - - - 20,000
Max Denning™ 124,246 9,613 158,411 - 38,781 331,051
Mark Thompson 200,000 - 100,000 - 3,134 303,134
Nigel Widdowson 156,275 10,754 - 2,340 25,078 194,447
Robert Ashley 26,667 - - - - 26,667
David Cather 33,462 - - - - 33,462
Martin Wood 4,833 - - - - 4,833
Neil Gawthorpe 4,968 - - - - 4,968
Grace Stevens 24,167 652 - - - 24,819
614,618 21,019 258,411 2,340 66,993 963,381

** Denotes the highest paid Director.

Directors’ interests in share options and warrants are disclosed in the Directors’ Report.

The share-based payment is an IFRS 2 cost charged for options issued. No cash benefit is received by the Directors. No Director exercised any
options during the year. Please see Note 28 for more information.

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022

Share-based
Salary Pension Loss of office Benefits payment Total
£ £ £ £ £ £
Francis Johnstone 24,000 - - - - 24,000
Stephen Fabian 18,000 - - - - 18,000
Richard M Maxey 24,000 - - - - 24,000
Max Denning** 170,000 8,500 - 6,256 163,046 347,802
Mark Thompson 132,500 - - - - 132,500
Nigel Widdowson 97,115 4,856 - 1,227 19,951 123,149
Robert Ashley 23,333 - - - - 23,333
David Cather 17,013 73 - - - 17,086
Grace Stevens 18,164 545 - - - 18,709
524,125 13,974 - 7,483 182,997 728,579

** Denotes the highest paid Director.

Directors’ interests in share options and warrants are disclosed in the Directors’ Report.
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12 Auditors’ remuneration

2023 2022

£ £

Audit of these financlal statements 50,000 54,000
Other fees to auditors

Audit-related assurance services 89,000 85,000

Auditors’ remuneration — accounts preparation - 10,500

' 139,000 149,500

All accounts preparation services were provided prior to the Group listing on AIM in October 2021.

13 Income tax
Tax charged/(credited) in the income statement:
2023 2022
£ £
Current taxation
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (544,602) -

The tax on profit for the year is higher (2022: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022: 19%). The differences
are reconciled below: .

2023 2022
£ £
Loss before tax (10,830,037) (12,988,988)
Corporation tax at standard rate (2,057,707) (2,467,908)
Fixed asset differences 12,498 _
Increase from effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable
profit (tax loss) 300,510 90,608
Other differences 512 -
Surrender of tax losses for R&D tax credit refund (544,602) -
Remeasurement of deferred tax for changes in tax rates (550,799) -
Income not taxable - (24,709)
Decrease/(increase) from tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was
recognised 2,294,986 2,402,009
Total tax credit (544,602) -
Deferred tax
Group
2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
Intangibles Tangibles Losses Other Total
£ £ £ £ £
At 1 April 2022 961,083 436,706 (1,397,789) - -
Charged to profit and
loss 1 (7,444) 7,443 - -
At 31 March 2023 961,084 429,262 (1,390,346) - -

The net deferred tax of £Nil is made up of a liability of £1,390,346 and asset of £1,390,346. The unrecognised deferred tax asset for carried
forward losses at 31 March 2023 was £7,730,527.
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The rate used for the deferred tax is 25% (2021: 19%) as the rate was substantively enacted in May 2021.

2022 2022 2022 2022 2022

Intangibles Tangibles Losses Other Total

£ £ £ £ £

At 1 April 2021 730,423 337,554 (1,020,857) (47,120) -
Charged to profit and

loss 230,660 99,152 (376,932) 47,120 -

At 31 March 2022 961,083 436,706 (1,397,789) - =

The net deferred tax of £Nil is made up of a liability of £1,397,789 and asset of £1,397,789. The unrecognised deferred tax asset for carried
forward losses at 31 March 2022 was £3,653,030.

14 Basic and diluted loss per share
Basic and diluted loss per share is calculated as follows:

2023 2022

£ £

Loss for the year (10,285,435) (12,988,988)
Weighted average number of shares in issue 180,511,110 119,017,666

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.06) 0.11)

The calculation of the loss per share has been retrospectively restated for each period presented to reflect the bonus issue of shares and share
consolidation which took place on 22 July 2021 (see Note 27).

The diluted loss per share calculations exclude the effects of share options, warrants and convertible debt on the basis that such future potential
share transactions are anti-dilutive. Information on share options and warrants is disclosed in Note 28.

Shares issued subsequent to the end of the year are disclosed in Note 35.
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Other
Furniture, property,

Land and fittings and Computer Motor plantand Asset under

bulldings  equipment equipment vehicles equipment construction Total
Group £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Cost or valuation
At 31 March 2021 4,416,300 34,289 - 8,740 92,408 - 4,561,737
Additions 30,450 25,279 171,420 - 72,106 3,904,548 4,203,803
Reclassifications - (32,241) - - 32,241 - -
At 31 March 2022 4,446,750 27,327 171,420 8,740 196,755 3,904,548 8,755,540
Additions 228,570 87,382 141,980 141,500 46,700 10,326,594 10,972,726
Reclassifications 514,041 - - - - (514,041) -
Disposals = - - (8,740) - - (8,740)
At 31 March 2023 5,189,361 114,709 313,400 141,500 243,455 13,717,101 19,719,526
bepréciation
At 31 March 2021 168,513 1,516 - 2,163 12,274 - 184,466
Charge for the year 67,284 1,271 9,932 2,884 20,093 - 101,464
Reclassifications - (1,209) - - 1,209 - -
At 31 March 2022 235,797 1,578 9,932 5,047 33,576 - 285,930
Charge for the year 103,891 12,916 72,397 37,598 50,193 - 276,995
Disposals - - - (7,210) - - (7,210)
Impairment - - - - - 108,947 108,947
At 31 March 2023 339,688 14,494 82,329 35,435 83,769 108,947 664,662
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2023 4,849,673 100,215 231,071 106,065 159,686 13,608,154 19,054,864
At 31 March 2022 4,210,953 25,749 161,488 3,693 163,179 3,904,548 8,469,610
At 31 March 2021 4,247,787 32,773 - 6,577 80,134 - 4,367,271

Included within the net book value of land and buildings above is £4,142,662 (2022: £4,210,953) in respect of freehold land and
buildings. .

Impairment — Asset under construction

The amount of impairment loss included in profit and loss is £108,947 (2022: £nil). The impairment relates to labour capitalised to an area of the
MPF which has since been eliminated from the process, following the updated feasibility study released during the year.
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16 Leases .
" Property o . . Total
Cost or valuation ‘ )

* At 1 April 2021 ‘ ' I 1,722,067 © 1722087
Additions  © ' o A S 237 : 233,117
At 31 March 2022 . , ‘ © 1,955,184 . 1,955,184
Additions - S | ’ ) : . 619,503 619,503
Disposals I o . Co- (233,117) - : (233,117)
At 31 March 2023 - , ' , 2,341,570 2,341,570
Depreciation )

At 1 April 2021 . " _ ‘ 110279 . 110279
Charge for the year , . - T 101,169 : 101,169

-At 31 March 2022 , o . 211,448 ' 211,448
Charge for the year T : . 216,039 216,039 -
Disposals : B ’ ' (108,589)  (108,589)
At31March2023° . - RV S . © 318,898 ' 318,898
Carrying amount _ V

" At31March2023 < . ‘ . ' L 2,022,672 © 2,022,672
At31 March 2022 : o o S © 11,743,736 o 1,743,736

Depreciation on right-of-use assets charged through the profit and loss totals £216 039 (2022: £101 169) Interest expense on Iease Ilabllmes
charged through the profit and loss totals £101,772 (2022: £87 838)

Lease liabilities

. 2023 T 2023 2023

Future lease payments =~ . Discount Lease liability

- -£ o £ : : £

Within one year 227,332 (112,459) - 114,873
_In‘two to five years - ) 760,712 ’ (417,285) . 343,427
in over five years. ‘ . ' 3,091,696 ’ (1,533,540) , . 1,558,156
4,079,740 , (2,063,284) 2,016,456

2022 2022 ' 2022

Future lease payments ’ " Discount Lease liability

A £ £

Within one year o . 282,507 o (90,021) 192,486
In two to five years ‘ 457,214 (313,511) . 143,703
In over five years ' ' C : © 2,568,335 ' " (1,271,408) 11,296,927
3,308,056 - S (1,674,940) o : 1,633,116
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TheA lease ||ab|I|t|es are presented as follows:

31 March 31 March
2023 L 2022
£ : £
Current ligbilities : : o 114873 192,486
Nort-current liabilities / . . L 1,901,583 1,440,630
2,016,456 ‘ 1,633,116
" 17 Intangible assets
Group . ' ' . o
' Goodwill . Mining rights Software R . Total
£ £ - £
Cost .
At1Apil2021 . - ; . 1,075,520 ' | 3,844,333 - 4,919,853
 Additions S - . e . 80000 . . 80,000 -
‘At 31 March 2022 - - 1,075520 - 3,844,333 80,000 4,999,853
. Additions ‘ - - 191,523 - 191,523
Disposals o - o - (80,000) (80,000)
At 31 March 2023 1,075,520 : 3844333 191,523 . 5,111,376 -
Amortisation ) |
At 1 April 2021 ‘ A o _ - - S . N i
Amortisation charged to the proft : : - - ) 6,599 6,599
and loss . : e
At 31 March 2022 ' - o - : 6,599 o 6,599
Amortisation charged to the profit A - . - . 21,360 . : 21,360 A
. and loss ' ’ ’ : ’ : o N .
K _Disposals : : - - *(6,599) . (6,598)
© At31March 2023 : . - - . 21,360 - 21,360
Carrying amount
_ At 31 March 2023 - : 1,075,520 - 3,844,333 170,163 . ., ' 5,000,016
At 31 March 2022 : 1,075,520 3,844,333 73,401 . 4,993,254
At31March2021 - 1,075,520 ' 3,844,333 - 4,919,853

The carrying amount of intangible assets Wthh is considered as having an indefinite useful hfe is £1,075,520. The whole balanoe is attributable
to goodwill. .

. The carrying amount of the mining nghts is £3.844 mllllon (2022: £3.844 million). The mining nghts will begin to be amorused when mlnmg
operations restart. .

Software amortisation of £21,360 (2022: £6,599) has been charged to the profit and Iess presented in administrative expenses. _
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Impalrment
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W

TUNGSTEN

The value in use of the Group's cash-generatmg unit which comprises the Hemerdon Mine was determined usmg a discounted cash flow
approach, supported by project cashflow forecasts prepared by management. The previous model under the Bankable Feasibility Study has
. been adapted toreflect the changes in inputs and assumptions as a result of the project re-evaluatlon The following mputs and key

assumptions were used in the determination of value in use:

2023 2022
Discouht rate ‘ 5% ‘ 5% A
Expected dﬁration of mining activitiee " 27 years 23,year§
Tungsten grade © 0.19-0.20 0.19-020
TunAgeten metal price $340 - $340 .
"Foreign exchange rete 1.20 1.22 .

Management has prebared a sensitised NPV calculation which under the updated project plans, calculated a value in excess of the carrying
- amount of the Group's assets. The underlying assumptions that were stress tested include the discount rate, FX and metal price. Management
-were satlsﬁed in the reeoverabnhty of the Group's assets and no impairment was required. .

18 lnvestments
Group subsidiaries

Details of the Group subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are as follows:

" Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights held .

Registered office

2022

Name of subsidiary Principal activity 2023
Drakelands Restoration Mining of iungsten and Shakespeare Martineau LLP, 100% 100%
Limited* tin ‘6th Floor,
60 Gracechurch Street, London
United Kingdom
EC3V OHR
England and Wales
Tungsten West ServicesProvision Shakespeare Martineau LLP, 100% 100%
Limited* of services to the Group 6th Floor,
60 Gracechurch Street, London,
United Kingdom
EC3V OHR
‘ England and Wales
Aggregates West Sales of aggregates Shakespeare Mamneau LLR, 100%: 100%
Limited* o 6th Floor, )
C 60 Gracechurch Street, London,
United Kingdom
EC3V OHR
England and Wales
* Indicates direct investment of Tungsten West pic in the subsidiary.
19 Escrow funds
-31 March 31 March
2023 2022
£ R 3
Non-current financial assets
Escrow funds 5,146,986 8,370,024

These are funds being held under escrow with a third party which will be released back to the Group on the cessation of mining once restoratioﬁ
works have been completed. The funds have been'discounted to present value over the expected useful life of the mine. During the year, the
discount rate was revised to 3.7% (2022: 2.0%) resulting in a loss of £3,485,064 (2022: £1,783,221). The actual funds held in the escrow

aooount at year end were £13,230,653 (2022 £13, 203 139).
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20 Trade and other receivables I o
. ’ 31 March 31 March

2023 2022

_ £ £

Trade receivables ' B o 297,800 - 153,390
Deposits : . . . o . 4,458,031 © 2340738
Prepayments , ' ’ o 816,723 . " 1,018,274
Other receivables ' I 501,039 - 315,107
' ' 6,163,593 3,827,509

. The average credit period on sales of goods is 30 days. No interest is charged on outstanding trade receivables. The carrying amount
of trade and other recenvables approxlmates the fair value.

As the Group is in the early phases of operations and making a few minor sales expected credit losses are being consndered ona
- customer-by-customer basis. At the year-end, trade recelvables |nclude a provnsuon of £69,873 (2022 £46,936).

21 Cash and cash equivalents

31 March ‘ . 31March
2023 .. 2022
£ £
Cash at bank . ' : 5,438,018 28,755,388 .
22 ln_verttories i
) . 31 March - . 31 March
. 2023 - - 2022
Inventories , ' ' 114173+ 156,944
23 Trade and other payables
' : 31 March © " 31March
2023 2022
‘ £ : £
Trade payables - o 544,064 ‘694,320
Accrued expenses ) ; ’ - 1,578,986 : . 3,383,300
Social security and other taxes ] ’ : - 156,978 - _ 147,927
Outstanding dsfined contribution pension cests ' i . 4 33233 . . 30,960
Other payablee . ) ‘ B : o 17,342 33,116
‘ 2,330,603 4,289,623

Trade payables and accruals comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit period for trade
purchases is 45 days (2022: 45 days). No interest is charged on overdue amounts.

The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates the fair value.
. . .
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24 Loans and bofrowings : _ o
31 March .. 31March

2023 2022
£ £
Non-current loans and borrowings : .
Lease liabilties S , 1,901,583 1,440,630
1,901,583 1,440,630
31 March : 31 March -
2023 2022
£ £
Current loans and borrowings’ ]
Lease liabilties - - . 114873 . 192,486

Convertible bonds

In the prior year, the convertible loan notes were converted in full, at the Company S electlon on admission-to AIM. The convertible loan notes
were converted into Ordinary Shares as determined by dividing the-prevailing principal amount of the convertible loan notes, which was )
£10,044,000, together with any accrued (but unpald) interest thereon, which at the date of conversion was £736 560, by the effective conversion
price, which is 30p. .

Movement in liability

31 March - 31 March

2023 o 2022

’ £ : . £

~ Brought forward 4 : _ o o . 10,311,840

Interest expense : ' ) - 468,720

Converted to equity shares ’ - . «“ 0.780.560)’

Carried forward A . » ’ - o -
25 Provisions

Group

Restoration provision Total

: _ £ . ’ €

At 1 April 2022 _ ’ ' 9,526,485 ‘ 9,526,485

Change in inflation and discount rate ) (4,205,774) (4,205,774)

Ir‘\creasei"due to passage of time or unwinding of discount 4 » 381,060 o 381,060

At 31 March 2023 - 5701771 - ° 5,701,771

Non-current liabilities : . L S 5,701,771 ‘ 5,701,771

This provision is for the obligation to restore the mine to ité onglhal state once mining operations cease, dlscounte& back to present
value based on the estimated life of the mine. Prior to dlsoountmg the Directors estlmate the provision at current costs to be
£13,201 256 (2022: £13,201,256).

The provision has been discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money

~ and the risks specific to the asset. The ultimate costs to restore the mine are uncertain, and cost estimates can vary in response to
many factors, including estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation  activities, technological changes, regulatory changes, oost
mcreases as compared to the mﬂatlon rates and changes in discount rates.

Management has oonsudered these risks and used a discount rate of 5.7% (2022: 4%), an inflation rate of 2.5-9% (2022: 2.5% - 7%)
and an estimated mining period of 27 years (2022: 23 years). Atthe reporting date these assumptlons represent management's best
estimate of the present value of the future restoratlon costs.
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26 Pension and other schemes

Defined contribution pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The pension cost charge for the year represents contributions payable by the
Group to the scheme and amounted to £161,908 (2022 £116,383).

" Contributions totalling £33,233 (2022: £30,960) were payable to the scheme at the end of the year and are lnduded in creditors.

27 Share capital
. Allotted, called up and fully paid shares ]
31 March 2023 o 31 March 2022
] No. £ ’ No. . T £
- Ordinary’ Shares of £0.01 : . - . ’
each . ‘ ) 180,551,615 ) 1,805,516 . 179,368,215 ) " 1,793,682

'

The holders of Ordlnary Shares are entitled to receive deends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetmgs of the Company All Ordinary Shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s res1dua| assets. -

A reconciliation-of the number of shares outstanding at the end of each year is presented as follows:

31 March 31 March

2023 _ o o2022°
) £ £

Number of shares brought forward. ' ' * . 179,368,215 68,560,000
lssue of shares to 22 July 2021 - C - 7,349,832
Capitalisation of share premium aw_,ou‘nt (bonus issue) ' ) - : ) - ' 7,525,125,729
Effect of share consolidation (see above) ) . : - ' (7 ,525,024,190)
. 179,368,215 - 76,011,374
Issue of shares on admission to AIM ' ) o . - : 65,125,000
Conversion of eonvertible debt ’ ' S ~ ) - 35,935,200
Options exercised - . . ’ - ‘ 197,200
Warrants execised ' : ‘ ) o 1,183,400 - 442,244
Founder options exercised ' o - ’ 1.657,200
180,551,615 , 179,368,215

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the share capital of the Company was restructured. The following share transactions took place:

+ The Company issued 7,349,832 Ordinary Shares of £0.0001 each for considerations ranging from £0.45 to £0.60 per share,

. On 22 July 2021 a bonus issue of shares from the share premium account created 7,525,125,729 Ordinary Shares of £0.0001 each.

= On 22 July 2021 a share capital consolidation took place whereby each one hundred Ordinary Shares of £0.0001 each were consolidated
into one Ordinary Share of £0.01 each .
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Warrants
Details and movements

TUNGSTEN

Warrants have been issued to certain shareholders and intermediaries as commission for introducing capital to the Company

Warrants can be exercised at any point before the expiry date for a fixed number of shares.

The movements in the number of warrants during the year were as follows:

- 31'March

EST

. 31 March

2023 2022

No. No.

Outstanding, start of year 4,095,219 2,310,681

Granted during the year ' - o 2,226,760

Exerciset:l during the year (1,183,400) - (442,222)

Expired during the year v (741,079) . , -
Outétanding, end of year 2,170,740 A A_ 4,095,219 ‘

The warrants have been-valued using the Black Scholes model as management have judged it not possnble to reliably estimate the fair value of

service received. Inputs to the pricing model were as follows:

Date of grant 2022
Share price at date of grant. £0.45 — £0.60
Exercise price £0.01 - £0.60
Riek-free interest rate 1.5%
Expected life of warrants 2 years
Volatility 33%

The exercise price of warrants outstanding at 31 March 2023 ranged between £0.01 and £0.60 and their remaining contractual life was

3 monlhs to 9 months.

The exercise price of warrants outstandmg at 31 March 2022 ranged between £0.01 and £0.60 and their remaining contractual life was 1 month

" to 21 months.
Founder share incentives
Detalls and movements

The founder shareholders have a right to receive shares at a nominal value once certain mllestones are hlt

The movements in the number of share options during the year were as follows:

31 March

-31 March
2023 2022
No. No. ~
Ontstanding, start of year 18,229,148 _ 6,963,000
Granted during the year . - 671,137
Terminated on admission to AIM - (7,634,137)
Replacement 4share awards following:admisslon‘ to AIM - 19,886,344
- Exercised during the year - (1,657,196)
Outstanding, end of year i 18,229,148 18,229,148

Upon admission to AIM, the original founder agreement was terminated and the Company granted replacement founder options to the founder

shareholders with effect from admission.

The founder options meet the definition of equity in the financial statements of the Company on the basis that the ‘fixed for fixed' condition is
met. No consideration was received for the founder options at grant date, therefore no accounting for the issue of the equity instruments is
N required under IFRS. On exercise, the shares are recognised at the fair value of consideration received, being the option price of £0.01.

Part of one of the founders’ option agreement were share options issued in their capacity as a Director and were dependent on their continuing

-,
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w Es'r

employment, and therefore 243,333 options have been accounted for under IFRS 2. This resulted in a charge to the Inoome statement of £nil ,

(2022: £143,603) and these options were fully vested' in the prior year.

" EMI share options
Details and movements

s

Share options have been issued to key employees as ‘an incentive to stay with the Company. These optlons can be exercised within four years

. following the grant date once the optlon has vested

The movements in the number of share optlons dunng the year were as follows:

31 March 31 March
2023 2022
No. ‘No.
Outstanding, start of year o .. 1,683,335 1,233,333
Granted during the year o , o ‘ ' ' _ - 1,097,228
Exercised/(lapsed) during the year - ' ‘ ) - (150,000) (647,226)
Outstanding.. end of year ' ; . ' ' 1,533,335 1,683,335
Share options have been valued using the Black Scholes model. Inputs to the pricing modal were as follows:
Date of grant . 2022
Share price at date of grant £0.45 — £0.60
" Exercise price . £0.01 - £0.45
Risk-free interest rate 1.5% .
~ Expected life of options 4 years
" Volatility 33%

Volatility has been estlmated based upon observable market volatilities of similar entities.

The exercise price of share optlons outstanding at 31 March 2023 ranged between £0.30 and £0.45 (2022: £0.01 and £0. 45) and thelr

remalnlng contractual life was 10 months to 30 months (2022: 22 months to 39 months)

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

Average Exerclse . Average Exercise .
Price £ . Options Price £ Options
Outstanding, start of year - 036 1,683,335 0.23 1,233,333
- Granted &un’ng the year ‘ ' - . - 043 1,097,228
Exercised/(lapsed) during theAyear ' . <. (0.35) (15(),000) ‘ (0.21) (647,226)-
Outstanding, end of year ) . ‘ - 037 . 1,533,335 0.36 1,683,335 .
CSOP share options

Details and movements

Share optlons have been issued to key employees as an mcentlve to stay with the Company. These options can be exercnsed within

“three years following the grant date once the option has vested.

© 31 March

31 March

. 2023 2022 -
‘ No.. No.
Outstanding, start of year ) o : - -
Granted during the year ' A ’ . T 2,799,982 -
Exercised/(lapsed) during the year ‘ . ' : ) {216,666) -
Outstanding, end of year : ’ . 2,583,316 -
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Share options have been valued using the Black Scholes model_. Inputs to the pricing model were as follows:

Date of grant , : ' : ‘ ’ 2023
Share price at date of granf . : : . . £0.275
Exercise price A ' ‘ ' £0.275
Risk-free interest rate : ) - ' - 3.5%
Expected life of options . ' . ’ 3 years
Volatilty ‘ ‘ | . o | : - 62%

Volatility has been estimated based upon observable market volatility of Tungsten West PLC.

The exercise price of share options oulstandlng at 31 March 2023 was £0.275 (2022: £nil) and their remaining contractual life was 2 years and 6

months.
31 March 2023 : 31 March 2022
Average Exercise ' ‘ Average Exercise

Price £ Options Price £ : Options
_ Outstanding, start of year - - - ‘ -
Granted during the year . ’ : - 0275 2,799,982 : - -
Exercised/(lapsed) during the year ' 0275 (216.666) ' - P
Outstanding, end of year ‘ L0275 2,583,316 - -

29 Commitments

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2023 the Group had contracted to purchase plant and machinery amountmg to £3, 754 738 (2022: £7,208,997). An amount of
£123,320 (2022: £123 320) is dependent on the commencement of mining operatlons

- Other financial commltments
The total amount of other financial commitments not provided in the financial statements was £10,329,000 (2022 £11,329,000) committed at
present or on the commencement of mining opsrations and represented contractual amounts due to the mining contractor and further committed
payments to the funds held in the escrow account under the escrow agreement. Included within other financial commitments is £4,000,000
which is considered to be payable between one to five years after mining operations commence.

30 'Reconclllatlon of liabilities arising from financing activities - )
’ ) Non-cash changes

: At 1 April Financing New finance Other . Converted At 31 March

- 2022 cash flows leases changes to equity 2023
: : £ £ £ £ ‘ £ : £
Lease liabilities 1,633,116  (266,094) 719,846 (70,412) - 2,016,456
1,633,116 (266,094) 719,846 (70,412) ‘ - 2,016,456

Non-cash changes

At 1 April Financing  New finance Other Converted At 31.March

2021 cash flows leases changes to equity 2022

£ £ £ £ i £ B

Long-term borrowings ) 10,311,840 - - 468,720 (10,780,560) = -
Lease liabilities . - 1,493,224 (153,932) . 205,987 87,837 - . 1,633,116
' 11,805,064 (1 53,932) 205,987 656,557 (10,780,560) 1,633,116
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31 Classification of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities )
The classification of financial assets and liabilities by accounting categorisation for the year ending 31 March 2023 was as follows:

2022

TUNGSTEN[WJEST

2023

2023 2022
Financial assets Financial assets Financial assets Financial assets
at amortised cost at amortised cost at FVTPL at FVTPL
£ £ : £ £\
Assets
Nori-current assets
Escrow funds receivable - - ' 5,146,986 8,370,024
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 5,346,870 2,809,335 -
Cash and cash equivalents " 3,438,018 28,755,388 -
8,784,888 31,564,723 ' 5,146,986 8,370,024
2023 4 2022 - - 2023 2022
Financial liabilities at Financial liabilities at Financlal liabilities at Financial liabilities
amortised cost amortised cost FVTPL ' at FVTPL
: . £ £ £

Liabilities '

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings (1.901;583) (1 ,440,530) . - -

Current liabilitles o

Trade and other payables ‘ (2,330.693) (4.289;573) - -

Loans and borrowings (114,873) (192,486) - -
(5,922,689) - -

32 Financial nsk review .
Group

This note presents information about the Group's exposire to f‘ nancial risks and the Group 's management of capital.

Credit risk

(4,347,059)

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has adopted a pollcy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties (banks and debtors) and it
obtaine sufficient collateral, where appropriate, to mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults. The most signtt‘ icant credit risk relates to
- customers that may default in making payments for goods they have purchased. .

To date the Group has only made a small number of sales and therefore the credit risk exposure has been low.

Liquidity risk

The Directors regularly monitor forecast and actual cash flows and match the maturity proﬁles of ﬁnanclal assets and liabilities to ensure proper-
liquidity risk management and to maintain adequate reserves, and borrowing facilities. In the view of the Directors, the key risk to liquidity is in
meeting short-term cash flow needs. All amounts repayable on demand or within three months are covered by the Company’s cash and .

. accounts receivable balances, which gives the Directors confidence that funds will be available to settle liabilities as they faII due. See further
dISCuSSIOFI of short term liquidity risk in the gomg concem sectlon of Note 2.

Market risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities. The Group in the future will also be exposed to exchange rate risk on the
basis that tungsten prices are principally denominated in USD. The Company wnl seek to manage this risk through the supply contracts it

agrees with future customers.

The Group does not use any denvatlve instruments to reduce its eoonomnc exposure to changes in interest rates or foreign currency exchange

rates at the current time.

The Group may rcqulrc futurc borrowings to support its mincral proccssmg faclllty upgrades and thercfore has an exposure to. future interest -

rate rises.
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33 Related party transactions

During the year no Director received a commission payment (2022 1 Director - £52,500) from a thlrd party in connection with raising additional
share capital for Tungsten West plc. In addition, no Director received a beneficial interest in warrants (2022: 1 Director - 58,333 warrants at 60p)
granted during the year to a third party in relation to ralsmg additional share capital for Tungsten West plc

Convertible bonds . )
During the prior year, the convertible bonds and accrued interest that were issued to family members of two of the  Directors were converted into
12,751,200 Ordinary Shares. £166,320 of interest accrued on these bonds during the year and interest due on these bonds at the prior year end
was £Nil.

Key management personnel :
Key management personnel are deemed to be the Dlrectors Their remuneration can be seen in note 11.

34 Application of new and revised UK adopted International Financial Reportlng Standards (UK-adopted IFRS)
New and amended Standards and Interpretations applied
. None of the new or amended IFRS Standards had an effect on the financial statements.

New and revised Standards and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Company has not early adopted the following amendments to Standards and -
Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Effective for annual periods

Standard or Interpretation ' ' ] ) commencing on or after
' Definition of Acoouhting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8' _ : . T January 2023
gisciosure of'Accountihg Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement ' . 1 January 2023 -
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities anslng from a Single Transaction — ' 1 January 2023
Amendments to IAS 12 .
Amendments to Insurance contracts in IFRS17 - ‘ 1 Januaty 2023
Lease Liability in a SaIe and Leaseback — Amendments to IFRS 16 ‘ 1 January 2024
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-cumrent - Amendments to IAS 1 . 1 January 2024

None of the above amendments are anticipated to have a material impact on future financial statements.

35 Post balance sheet events
On 3 April 2023, the Group and Company announced that it was undertaking a restructunng exercise and interim fundraising to enable it to
* focus on satisfying the conditions for completing the remaining funding required to complete the Project and take Hemerdon into production.

On 19 May 2023, the Group announced it was raising £6.95 million by way of convertible loan notes (CLN) and £2.0 million via an open offer.
The funds raised are expected to fund working capital for at least six months at the date of signing the Note Purchase Agreement.

On 8th June 2023, the Group announced the completion of the interim fund raise with the Group raising a total of £6.95 million by way of
convertible loan notes and £195,675 via an open offer, representing 9.8% -available under the open offer.

Following satisfaction of the conditions precedent of the Tranche A Notes, the Company served notice on the Note Purchasers for the sum of
£3.975 m:lllon with the Tranche A Notes issued on 13 June 2023. B

During July 2023 company notiﬁed Lansdowne Partners, the majority holder of the 2023 Convertible Loan Note, of multiple breaches of the
terms of the loan. These breaches have resulted from management implementing measures to conserve the wsh flow of the company to
match the sources of finance available from the Convertible Loan Note facility.

The specific terms of the note purchase agreement which have been violated are:

(a) Clause 20.7 (Cross default): Certain liabilities under deferred payment arrangements in excess of £250,000 have not been
paid when due.
(b) Clauses 20.8 (Insolvency) and 20.9 (Insclvency Proceedings): The company is unable to pay liabilities when they have fallen

due: by reason of actual-and anticipated financial difficulties the Group has suspended payments to certain creditors and has entered
- into negotiations with more than one creditor with a view to rescheduling its indebtedness. The Group has made formal arrangements
with some creditors to defer or suspend payments.
(c) Clause 20.15 (Expropriation). The ability of the Group to conduct its business is wholly curtailed by the regulatory bodies who
have yet to issue the Permit required for operations to recommence.
The Group has limited ability to cure these defaults as they are ongoing and the habllltles cannot be settled until full project ﬁnanoe has been
secured.

The amount currehtly in default is £6.95 million principal plus £0.27m PIK accrued.

Under the terms of the-Note Purchase Agreement dated 19 May 2023, the Note Purchasers, if directed by the holders of at least 75% of the Notes
outstanding, may by notice to the Group:
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~ e Terminate the agreement and cancel the Notes, and any unutilised notes will not be available for purchase; )
e Demand the Notes can be redeemed / repurchased immediately at the Redemption Price, plus any PIK is repaid. The redempuon price
is a-sum equal to two times the principal amount of the Notes.
¢  Exercise its rights to enforce security-under the terms of the note purchase. agreement and security deed.
- At the date of this report the Group does not have the funds available to redeem the notes.

On 16 August 2023 the Note Holders agreed a waiver of the breaohes which will expire on 31 January 2024. The Waiver gives the Board suffi-
cient comfort that the Group can both meet the terms of the ongmal loan without further breaches and the terms of the waiver hence is a going-
. concem. For the Group to remain a.Going Concem, the Group is reliant on continued support of the Noteholders by not exercising their rights .
-under the Defaults should the defauits not be remedied, or the note converted or redeemed, by 31 January 2024.

Following satisfaction of the conditions precedent of the Tranche B notes, the Company served notice on the Note Purchasers for the sum of
£2.975 mllhon with the Tranche B Notes issued on 22 August 2023 .

" On the 18May 2023, The Group and Company announced that Mark Thompson has stepped down from the board of directors. -
On 16 August 2023 the Group and Company announced that Nigel Widdowson has stepped down from the board of directors.

On 4 September 2023 the Group announoed that Adrian Bougourd Kevin Ross and Guy Edwards have been appointed to the Board as Non-
Executrve Directors.

For rnformatlon on updated project plans, please see the CEQ Review on page 5 .

«©
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Tungsten West plc (the “parent company”) for the year ended 31 March 2023 which comprise the
Company Statement of Financial Position, Company Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framewaork that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (Unlted Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice). . .

In our opinion the financial statements

_ give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and of |ts loss for the year ended;
+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
= have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for Opinion
-We conducted our audit.in acoordanoe with Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK,
. including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to Notes 2 and 37 in the financial statements, which indicate that the group has yet to secure a key permit required to obtain
the finance it needs to complete the plant rebuild and continue in operational.existence for the foreseeable future. As stated in Note 2 and 37,
these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2 and 37 indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concem. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

In auditing the financial statements we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concem basis of aocountmg in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropnate
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sectlons of this report
\

~ Key audit matters :
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the
current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including

- those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. -

The key audit matters identified for the company related to the management override of controls, going concem and assessment of credit losses
on group loan receivables. Further detailed work in respect of the first two mattersare set out in our group audit report.

KEY AUDIT MATTER " RESPONSE AND CONCLUSION

Credit loss provision agamst group loan . Our audit work included:

receivables . .
- » Assessment and challenge of the key assumptions applied by management.

, : * Reperformance of management's calculation.
The company has provided interest free » Discussions and enquiries with management.

loans repayable on demand to its trading + Assessment of the accuracy and oompleteness of accounts disclosure in light of the
subsidiaries. As the subsidiaries lack the above

cash reserves to repay these balances on .

demand the expected credit loss must be  As a result of the procedures performed, we are satisfied that credit loss provusmn is
assessed under IFRS 9. The restructure of accounted for and disclosed correctly.

operations in the year and uncertainty

regarding the key mineral processing

facility permit has impacted the

assessment of credit losses on these

loans.

Our application of materiality
. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if lndeually orin aggregate they could reasonably be expected to influence
- the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. We use quantitative thresholds of materiality, together with
qualitative assessments in planning the scope of our audit, detenmnlng the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and in evaluatmg
the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined matenahty for the company financia! statements should be based on gross assets as it is
a holding company. Overall company materiality was set at £427,000, parformance materiality of £257,000 and individual errors above £22,000
were reported to the audit committee.

Other mformatlon
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other informatian. Our opinion on-the financial statements does not cover the other information
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and, except to the extent otherwise explicitiy stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection.

. with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is matenially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If we identify such matenal inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on othor matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

« the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report for the financial year for whlch the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

* the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified
material misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report.

We hiave nothing to report in respect of the following inallers where the Companies Act 2006 reqhims us v report to you if, in vur upinion:

« adequate accounting records have not been kept, or retums adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us;
or

+ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retums; or

« certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 33, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such intemal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concem,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concem basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the company or to cease operatlons. or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’'s Responslbllltles for the audit of the financial statements :

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free fmm material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high leve! of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Iregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We desngn procedures in line with our responsibilities,
outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of |rregulant|es, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of
detecting iregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

We obtained an understanding of tho legal and regulatory framework applicable to the company and the industry in which it oporates. We
wunisidered those laws and regulalions that have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial slaterments, including, but not lirited to the
reporting framework (IFRS and Companies Act 2006) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK. In addition, we considered
provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be
fundamental to the company’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty, including compliance with the Health and-Safety at Work etc Act
1974 and the ongoing monitoring requirements imposed by the UK Environment Agency under the Environment Act 1995.

As part of our planning procedures, we assessed the risk of any non-compliance with laws and regulations on the entity’s ability to continue
operating and the risk of material misstatement to the accounts. Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-
compliance with such laws and regulations. Our procedures involved the following:

« Reviewed legal and professional costs to identify legal costs in respect of non-compliance;

+ Discussions and enquiries with management whether there have been any known instances, allegations or suspicions of fraud or non-
compliance with laws and regulations;

* Review of board minutes or correspondence with regulators where available including the UK Environment Agency.

We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipuiation of the financial étatements (including the risk of override
of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to fraudulent financial reporting. Our prooedures invoived the following:

* Review of nominal journal entries for reasonableness;

* Review of significant accounting estimates for bias, in particular the key accounting estimates.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irmegularities, including those leading to a matenial
misstatement in the financial statements. This risk increases the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events
and transactions reflected in the financial statements as we are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detectmg one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate
concealment, collusion, omission or misrepresentation.
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A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: https://www.frc.org. uk/auditors/audit-
: assurancelaudltor-s-responsnbll|t|es-for-the-audlt-of the-ﬁ/descnptlon-of the—audﬂor’s-responsnbllmes-for This descnptlon forms part of our -~
auditor’s report. . :

Use of our Report . :

This report is made solely to the company's members asa body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to themin an audit report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitied by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company .
and the companv's members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

KE frani Clock

Duncan Leslie : .
(Senior Statutory Auditor) -

For and on behalf of PKF Francis Clark, Statutory Auditor
Melville Building East

Unit 18, 23 Royal William Yard

Plymouth

Devon -

PL1 3GW

Date: 13/09/2023 -

s . ) . N \
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2023 2022

" Note £ £
Fixed assets ) o .
Tangitle fixed assets o a0 - 33048 30,751
Rightof-use assets ' - _' 'Y - 1ea12
Investments in subsidiary undertakings . : ' L o 42 4,533,257 4,494,718

© 4,566,305 4,543,581

Current assets ' - R . ) ‘ . . -
Debtors . : . _ 43 26,012,323 24,983,228
Cash at bank and in hand - o ' ‘ 44 2,847,982 - 26,441,636

28,860,305 51,424,864

Total Assets : _ . 33,426,610  55968,445

_Equity and liabilities

Equity' ‘ i
* Share capital ' o o &1 1805516 1793682
Sharepremium - - ‘ o . 51,@2,?61 * 51,610,414
‘Share option reserve - ' - . : S 357,366 = 241,861
'Wairant reserve S S S 740,867 1,408,730
: Rétained eami'ngs' - o » . ) o .(21;755',126)' . 268,184 ‘
‘ Equity atttibqtable'to owners of the_Company' ' R ' Co ' ‘ 33,031,384 65,322,871

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables o ‘ , . 45 395226 645,574

Total liabilities A o . ' o ' » 395,226 645,574
Total equity and liabilities ' 0 i ' ) . 33,426,610 55,968,445

The Company made a loss for the financiat year of £22,691,173 (2022: £2,8'i7,264).

The Company accounts were abproved by the Board on 13 September 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

: . DocuSigned by:
Nell Gawthorpe '
Director. k . ) . ;

Company Registration Number: 11310159 1CBABCA201654C8...
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Share option
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warrant

WIEST

Share Retained .
Share capital _premium reserve reserve eamnings Total -
: £ . £ £ I
-At 1 April 2021 i . " 6,856 12,327;484 67,84Q 754,586 (7,069,210). 6,087,556 _
Loss for the year _ - - - —  (2.877.264) . (2.877,264)
Total comprehensive income ’ . - - - - (2,877,264). (2,877,264‘) :
Capital reduction of share premium account , . - (10,000,000) - - 10,000,000 -
Issue of bonus shares 752,513 . (752,513) - - _ -
Conversion of oonvertit:le debt L 359,352 1'0,421,208 - - - 10,‘780,560V
New share capital subscribed ° ' '674.961V 40,310,822 = - - 40.985,783
_lssue of warrants . : _ - (696,587) - 785,144 - 88,557
Exercise of warrants ' - ) ' .- - - (131,000) 131,000 -
. Share options charge . ‘ - - 298878 - - 298,678
Forfeiture of share options ) - - - (41,199) - - .(41 (1 98)
" Exercise of share options - - (83658) - 83,658 -
At ;1 March 2022 T o _ 1,793,682 51,610,414 241,861 1,408,730 268,184 55.322,871
Loss for the year ' ' ‘ ' (22,691,175) (22,691,173)
Total comprehensive income , - - - ~  (22,691,173) (22.691,173)
 New.share capital subscribed L 18- 272347 284,181
Issue of warrants . : - - - ‘ - - -
Exercise of warrants - : . ’ ] - - = (334,378)" 334,378 -
Expired warrants ’ o L - o= ' (333,485) . 333,485 -
‘Share options charge - - - - 134610 . - - 134610
. Ferfelture of share options . - - ", (19,105) - - .(19.105)'
Exercise of share options ' ) - : - - A - - -
At 31 March 2023 . ' 1,805,516 51,882,761 357,366 740,867 (21,755,126) 33,031,384
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36 General information
Tungsten West pic (‘the Company’) is a pubtic limited company, incorporated in England and Wales and domiciled in the United Kingdom.

The address of its registered The principal place of

office is: ‘ business is:
Shakespeare Martineau LLP Hemerdon Mine
6th Floor Drakelands

60 Gracechurch Street . Plympton
London s ‘Devon

EC3V OHR PL7 5BS

United Kingdom ) United Kingdom

‘37 Accounting policies '
Basis of preparation
The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 Reduced Dlsclosure Framework ( FRS 101°)..

No profit and loss account is presented for Tungsten West plc, as permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.
The financial statements are presented in Sterhng, which is the functional currency of the Company

Reduced disclosures applied
In preparing the Company financial statements the Company has apphed the followmg disclosure exemptlons allowed under FRS 101, therefore
the following are omitted: .
o A Company statement of cash flows as required by IAS 1 and IAS 7.
Financial instruments disclosures under IFRS 7.
Fair value disclosure under IFRS 13. :
Related party disclosures with wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group.
Reconciliations of share capital movements required by IAS 1.
Comparative information for property, plant and equipment.
Disclosing information on leases required by IFRS 16 in a single note.

The Group’s financial statements are included V(ithin_ this document.

Going concern

The Group is still in the pre-production phase of operations and meets its day to day working capltal requirements by utilising ‘cash reserves

from investment made in the Group. In October 2021, the Group raised £36.0 million net of fees by way of an initial public offering and at the
" year-end, had £3.4 million in cash reserves.

Further to ongoing discussions with investors and debt providers, it is.clear that access to the capital required to complete the project will be
significantly limited until the Group has secured the final permit reqmred to operate the Mineral Processing Facility and a Planning Perrmsslon
" relevant to truck movements.

These conditions indicate that a maten'al uncertainty exists that may cast signifcant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The Group has focussed its short term operatmg strategy simply on activities required to secure these perrmts maintain the requirements for the
exnstmg permits and secure funding to oomplete the project and recommence mining operations.

The.Group completed the issue of a convertible loan note facility and an open offer in June 2023. These collectively raised £7.2 million gross of
fees. There is an additional facility in place to issue a further £2.0 million convertible loan note under the same terms, The Board consider this to
be sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities as they fall due and to complete the short term strategic objectives before December 2023. Opex has
been sngmﬁcantly reduced and all material capltal commitments deferred until these objectives have been achieved. :

After the year end, the Group took measures to conserve cash by stopping capex payments, restructuring the cost base and defemng certain
contracted payments to creditors. As a result of this, the Group has notified the Note Purchasers of multiple defaults on the terms of the Note
Purchase Agreement which relate to payments to creditors. There are detailed later in this report. Under the termns of the Note Purchase Agree-
ment, The Noteholders can ¢ancel any outstanding Notes under the Note Purchase agreement and demand immediate redemption unless a
waiver is in place. The redemption sum is two times the loan note principal outstanding along with any accrued PIK. A waiver for the breaches in
place at the time of signing these accounts has been issued by the noteholders. The waiver will expire on 31 January 2024. For the Group to
remain a Going Concem, the Group is reliant on continued support of the Noteholders by not exercising their rights under the Defaults should
the defaults not be remedied, or the note converted or redeemed, by 31 January 2024.

As identified earlier in this report, permitting, funding and macro-economic risks (Geopolitical, Eoonomlc instability) are the most significant risks
facing the Company. Lack of or delayed permits, alongside volatile mput costs, forex and commodity prices, will significantly increase the risk of
lack of access to capital.

The Board is pursuing a strategy of completing the project. ona capital build and operate basis.

Going concem is reliant on further funding being secured by the end of December 2023, without which the group would be unable to payits
liabilities as they fall due beyond this point. Management have prepared one forecast as follows:
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. Model 1 - Additional funding closed December 2023
This scenario models management's intended plan of the expected future outflows required to complete the capital build once finance is
secured. Sensitivity analysis has been applled in terms of when the project would restart, availability of additional capital and the cashfiow
demands for each scenario. As the terms of any finance package have not yet been agreed the model does not include costs of finance.

Management are satisfied there is sufficient headroom to service the projected cost of debt when this is agreed. As negotiations with finance
providers proceed the model will be updated with the anticipated finance costs to ensure that a sufficient leve! of I|qU|d|ty is maintained.
Management is confident that the pro;ectﬁnance can be secured to complete the capital build under the updated business plan once the
relevant permits are secured.

As a result, there is a material uncertainty over the granting of the permits and permissions required, within the necessary timeframes, to allow '
the group to obtain the finance it requires. The Board intends that the company be able to operate as a going concem for the foreseeable future.
Consequently, they continue to adopt the going concem basis in preparing these financial statements despite the material uncertainty referred
to above ’ .

Summary of significant aecountlng policies and key accounting estimates
The principal accountmg policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below These polncnes have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings are stated at the cost less any depreciation or lmpalrment losses subsequently accumulated (cost model).

Plant and equipment.is stated in the statement of financial posmon at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation

Depreciation is charged so as to wnte off the cost of assets, other than land and properties under construcnon over thelr estimated useful hves
as follows

Asset class ' Depréciation method and rate

Furniture, ﬁttings and equipment 5% — 20% Straight Line

* Other property plant and . 5% Straight-t.ine .
equipment ) ) )

' Right-of-use assets .
Right-of-use assets consist of property leases recognised under IFRS 16. These assets are depreciated over the shorter of the Iease term and
the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

Investments
Fixed asset mvestrnents are measured at cost less impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
. to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are either due on demand or

have maturities of three months or less from inception. .

Convertlble debt :

The redemption of convertible debt does not give rise to a fixed number of shares on conversion and so is recognised as a liability with no equity
element initially recorded at the amount of proceeds received. Interest compounds annually ata rate of 8% but shall not be payable until the
maturity date. . . .

Leases

At inception of the contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. It recognises a nght-of-use assetand a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all material lease arrangements in which it is the lessee. The right-of-use assets and the lease
liabilities are presented as separate line items in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by ’
using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. It is subsequently
measured by increasing the carrying amount to refiect interest on the lease Ilabnhty (using the effectlve interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Slgnlﬁcant accounting estimates and judgements ‘
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and Judgements that affect the reported amounts of certain
financial assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

The use of estimates and judgements is principally limited to the determination of provisions for |mpa|rment and the valuation of
financial instruments as explained in more detall below:

Probability Estimate in Calculating Expected Credit Losses
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' ‘The Company calculates expected credit losses on financial assets, including inter-company loans, in accordance with IFRS 9 - Financial’

Instruments. In determining these expected credit losses, the Company incorporates probability estimates based on a range of possible .
" outcomes. .

- Incorporation of Probability Estimates

The calculation of expeeted credit losses involves the incorporation of probability estimates to reflect the likelihood of differént credit events .
occurring. The Company considers various factors, including historical data, economic conditions, industry-specific information, and forward-
looking information to develop these probability estimates. .

Industry-Specific Information

Industry-specific information is eonsldered to reflect the umque characteristics and risks assoclated with different sectors. The most significant
industry risk to the Company is permitting. There is a risk that the operating subsidiary does not obtain its mineral processing facility permit and
therefore cannot generate future revenue to repay the inter-company loan. Management are confident that the permit will be awarded based on
the precedent set through the previous operator and the positive discussions held with the regulatory body. Management have therefore
assessed the probability estimate at 80%.

Economic Conditions

The Company considers current and expected future economic conditions when developing probability estimates. The most significant
economic risk to the Company is lenders appetite to invest long term in the Company. Management believe that lenders are hesitant to invest in
Tungsten West without a processing permit due to the inherent risk associated with the Company’s ability to generate a return when un-
permitted. Management are confident that once permntted the Company will have satisfied all significant conditions precedent to drawing on
. potential borrowing facilities. Management have therefore assessed the probability estimate at 90% Overall, the probability esnmate is
" calculated to be 72%.

Post-year end, positive progress on the mineral processing permit application has increased managements probability estimate from 80% to
90%. This is due to the successful results yielded from the low frequency noise trial and the subsequent submission of the MPF pemit
application. Therefore management are more confident at signing date than at the year-end. This would result in an increase in the probability
estimate from 72% to 81%.

0vera|| the expected credit loss provision at year-end is £20,298,441 (2022: Nil) which represents a 41% effective provision. The effective
provision rate is higher.than the probability estimate due to the 100% provision on Tungsten West Services Limited as the company is not "
- expected to generate future profits to repay the inter-company Ioan

Senslt_lvlty Analysls

The Company has performed a sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of different scenarios on the expected credit losses for intercompany . .
loans. The analysis considered changes in economic conditions, default rates, and other relevant factors. A 10% increase in probability estimate
would reduce the expected credit loss by £2.8 million. A 10% decrease in probability estimate would i incredse the expected credit loss by £2.8
mllllon

Based on this analysis, management believes that the loss allowance recognised is appropriate g|ven the current economic enwronment and
‘specific characteristics of the mter-company loans.

Financial Instruments . .
Initial recognition : 1
Financial assets and financial hablhtues comprise all assets and liabilities reflected in the statement ofﬁnancnal position, although excluding -

' fixtures, furniture and fi ttlngs prepayments, and deferred tax liabilities.

The Group recognises financial assets and ﬁnanmal liabilities in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group becomes
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, representing the proceeds received
net of premiums, discounts and transaction costs that are directly attributable to the financial liability.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets and financial liabilities classified as fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL') are
recognised on the trade date, i.e.; the date on which the Company commits to purchase or seil the financial assets or financial liabilities. All
regular way purchases and sales of other financia! assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the settlement date, i.e., the date on which

_ the asset or liability is received from or delivered to the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of ﬁnanclal assets
‘that require delivery within the time frame generally established by regulatlon or convention in the marketplace -

Subsequent to initial measurement, financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at either amortised cost or fair value.

In particular the Company has recognised a financial liability arising from the founder share incentives at fair value Subsequent movements in
fair value are recognised thmugh profit or loss. .

Expected Credit Losses on Inter-Company Loans’
The Company has extended loans to its subsidiaries (inter-company loans). Management has assessed the expected credit losses assocuated
with these inter-company loans in accordance with IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments.
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“Measurement of Expected Credit Losses

The expected credit losses for inter-company loans have been measured based on a forward-looking assessment of credit risk, taking into
consideration both historical data and reasonable and supportable information about future events. The Company uses the followmg stages to
classify the inter-company loans and measure the correspondlng expected credit losses:

- Stage 1: Loans with no significant i increase in credit risk since initial racognition

Inter-company loans that have not experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition are considered to be in Stage 1. For
these loans, the Company recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month expected credit losses.

Stage 2: Loans with a sngmﬁunt increase in credlt risk since initial recognition

Inter-company loans that have experienced a significant increase in credit nsk since initial recognition are considered to be in Stage 2. For these
loans, the Company recognises a loss allowance equal to lifetime expected credit losses :

~ Stage 3: Loans that are credit-impaired

Inter—oompany loans that are credrt-lmpalred are classifi ed as Stage 3. Credit- |mpa|red toans are those for which theré is evidence of a
measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows since |n|t|al reeognmon For these loans, the Company recognises a loss allowance equal
to lifetime expected credit losses.

Determination of Expected Credit Losses

The detemination of expected credit losses involves assessing a range of possible outcomes and their respective probabilities. The Company
considers relevant factors, including economic conditions, industry-specific factors, and forward-looking information.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Company derecognises a financial asset when: the contractual nghts to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; it transfers the right
to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred; or the Company neither transfers nor retains substantnally all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retam control of
the financial asset.

-On derecognition off a financial asset, the difference between the camying amount of the asset and the sum of the ‘consideration received is
reoogmsed as a gain or Ioss in the profit or loss.

Financial Ilabnlmes
The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expire.

Share capital :

Ordinary Shares are classified as equlty Equity mstruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other resources received or -
receivable, net of the direct.costs of issuing the equity instruments. If payment is deferred and the time value of money is material, the initial
measurement is on a present value basis:

Share options and warrants
Share options granted to shareholders classified as equity instruments are accounted for at the fair value of cash reoe:ved or receivable. Share -
. options granted to shareholders which represent a future obllgatlon for the Company outside of its control are recognised as a financial liability
. at fair value through profit and loss. .

Share optlons granted to employees are fair valued at the date of grant with the cost reoognlsed over the vesting period. If the employee is
employed in a subsidiary company the cost is added to the investment value, in the financial statements of the parent and the expense
recognised in staff costs in the statements of the subsidiary.

Warrants issued in retum for a samce are classified as equity instruments and measured at the fair value of the service received. Where the
service received relates to the issue of shares the oost is debited against the proceeds received in share premlum

Tax
Income tax expense consists of the sum of current tax and deferred tax.

‘Current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported for acoeunting pprposes becauss of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years'and items that are never taxable or deductible.

Current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. A provision is
recognised for tax matters that are uncertain if it is considered probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The
provision is measured at the best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of tax
professionals within the Company. .

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised, Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
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combination) of other assets and Iiabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the aoeounting profit

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each repomng date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are

- expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is reallsed based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or
substantlvely enacted at the reportlng date.

The Group mtends to submll research and development tax credit dalms The Group accounts for a claim at the point it considers the clalm to
be unchallenged by HMRC. . -

as Company staff costs

~The aggregate payroll costs (lncludlng Directors’ remuneratlon) were as follows ) )
.2023 2022
) £ £
. Wages and salaries ' : ‘ ' ' 301,737 - E . 204,948
"Social security costs e N . 37,268 18,507
" “Pension costs, defined contribution scheme : o h 11,407 4,242
Share based paymenis ' ‘ ‘ o ._ . - . -76,966 . 19,951
' ‘ 427,318 248,648

The average number of persons employed by the Company (including Directors) during the year,.anelysed by category was as follows:

2023 ‘ 2022

No. No.

Administration and support o ) 0 : l\ . 0
Management . ' L o o . 6 | o -4
A o . , . ) o

Remuneration of the Directors is disolosed in note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.-
39 Deferred tax '

The unrecoglnised deferred tax asset for carried forward losses as at 31 March 2023 was £1,844,628 (2022: £1,522,297).
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40 Tangible fixed assets

Furniture, fittings and Other property. plant and

TUNGSTEN

EST

equipment . equupment .Total
£ : £ £
Cost .
AUt April 2022 2,048 . 32,241 34,289
Additions - ' 4,337 4,337
At 31 March 2023 2,048 ' 36,578 38,626
-_Depreci"ation -
At 1 April 2022 .17 , 2,821 3,538
Charge for the year 410 .. 1630 2,040
At 31 March 2023 1,127 : 4,451 5,578
Carrying atnount
At 31 March 2023 921" 32,127 33,048
At 31 March 2022 1,331 . . 29,420 30,751
41 Right-of-use assets
Company .
Property Total
TR e
Cost or valuation
AL1 April 2022 54,116 54,116
Additions - =
T‘At':n March 2023 54,116 54,116
Depreciation .
At 1 April 2022 36,004 . 36,004
Charge for the year 18,112 18,112
At 31 March 2023 54,116 54,116
Carrying amount ‘
At 31 March 2023 - -
18,112 18112

At 31 March 2022

Depreciation on rlght-of-use assets charged through the profit and loss totals £18,112 (2022 £27,034). interest expense on lease
liabilities charged through the profit and loss totals £177 (2022: £1,916).
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42 Investment in subsidiary undertaki'ngs
Summary of the Company investments ]
. 31 March 31 March

. 2023 ' ST 2022
‘Investments in subsidiaries B ' . 4,533,257 4494718
Subsidlaries
. Cost - ' o |
~ Opening cost . A . : . 4,494,718 ‘ 4,256,990
Additons : B ‘ . 38,53, ' 237,728
Closing cost : L S 4533257 . 4,494.718

_ Additions in the current year relate to further mvestment in subsidiaries as a result of share opnons in the Company granted to
employees of those subsidiaries. . . .

Informatlon on the Company’s subsidiary undertakmgs is.disclosed in note 18 to the Consohdated Fmancnal Statements.

] 43 Trade and other receivables C
31 March 31 March

2023 2022

_ £ £

Net receivables from subsidiaries : T , 25,721,502 - 24,562,146
Prepayments N ‘ 4 ) S 22,439 282,337

Other receivables . : . 268,382 A 135;745

. 26,012,323 ) 24,983,228

The average credit penod on sales of goods is 30 days No interest is charged on outstandlng trade recelvables The camying amount of trade
and other recelvables approximates the fair value .

As the Group is in the early phases of operations and making a few minor sales, bad debt is belng oonsudered on a customer-by-customer
basis. No irrecoverable debts. were |dent|ﬂed as at year end.

. Loss Allowance for Inter-Company Loans
Amounts due from group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

As of the reportmg date, the Company has assessed the expected cnedlt losses on its-inter-company loans and reoogmsed a loss allowance as
follows:

Stage 1: £Nil representing the 12-month expected credit losses

Stage 2: £7.7 million representing the lifetime expected credit losses

Stage 3: £12.6 million representing the lifetime expected credit losses

The total loss allowance for inter-company loans as of the reporting date is £20.3 million.

The overall credit loss of 41% allows for factors including restructuring of the group and non-recoverable balances from subsudlanes for which
income is now no longer planned due to oorporate restructuring activities and other intemal factors

31 March

2023

_ , £

At 1 April 2022 ' : ' ‘ . -

Increase dhn’ng the year o : ' N o 20,298,441

Unused amounts reversed " ' o ' ; A ‘ -

At 31 March 2023 : _ ‘ : - 20,298,441
.Gross receivables from subsidiaries o - : ‘ ) o S 46,019,943
Overall creditloss . o o _ ' © (20,208,441)

Net receivables from subsidiaries ’ ) ' ) ' - 25,721,502

78



DocuSign Envelope ID: AA382E7D-F.325—-4430-90A8~98C6CE4DE22F

.Notes to the Company Flnanmal Statements : 1 ‘
"Year ended 31 March 2023 5 T TUNGSTEN|WIEST
44 Cash at bank and in hand ‘
' = ' 31 March 31 March _
2023 - 2022
_ £ . £
Cashatbank - : ‘ . - 2,847,982 T 26,441,636

45 Creditors — amounts fallirtg due under one year ’ . ; :
' : 31 March - 31 March

2023 2022

_ _ £ £

Trade creditors . S © o ea0ss - 143,107

Accrued expenses R " 324,318 466,782

Social security and 'othertaxes - V : , » ' . 6,781 - v . 14,966

_Other payables 4 ) - ‘ L 32 ' ‘ 2,096
 Lease liavities o | B : -+ 18e®
' 395,226 645,574

Trade payables and accruals comprise amounts outstandlng for trade purchases and ongoing costs The average credit perlod for trade
purchases is 45 days (2022: 45 days). No interest is charged on overdue amounts.

The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates the fair value.

46 Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year . .
: 31 March 31 March

2023 2022
£ L £
Non-current loans and borrowings
Lease liabilties - - . N o o - -
Convertible debt ' : ' , : C - D R
Other borrowings T ' A : - = ' B ) -
Lease liabilities _ S :
2023 ‘ o ' 2022
Future lease - , : Futurelease . = . .
" payments Discount Lease liability - payments - Discount Lease liability -
' ' £ £ £ £ £ £
Within one year , - - - 118,800 . (7 18623
In two to five years - - - - - .-
- : - .- 18,800 S . - 18623
Lease liabilities are presented as follows:
' " 31 March 31 March
2023 , 2022
' £ £
Current liabilities . - : S 18,623
‘Non-current liabilities A _ A -. ‘ -
- : 18,623

Convertible bonds
The Convertible Loan Notes were converted in full, at the Companys election, on admission to AIM. The Convertlble Loan Notes were
converted into Ordmary Shares as determined by dividing the prevailing principal amount of the Convertible Loan Notes, which was
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£10,044,000, together with any eocrued (but unpaid) interest thereon which at the date of conversion was £736,560, by the effective conversion.
price, which was 30p. .

Movement in liability : . o
: 31 March . 31 March .

2023 ' 2022
. v . T £
Brought forward te ) Lo . ‘ - ) ‘10,311A,840
Interest aocrued‘ . ’ . ' : ' L - . 468,720
Converted to equity shares . ' B : - . \(10,780;560)
Carried forward ** ‘ . PR . L - . -
47 Share capital
Allotted, mlled up and fully paid shares
-31 March 2023 - ) . L. 31 March 2022 ]
No. : £ . No. ' £
- Ordinary Shares of £0.01 : . _ , ' ' ‘
each ‘ 180,551,615 = . 1,805516 179,368,215 1,793,682

L
v

" The holders of Ordlnary Shares are entitied to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per. share at
meetings of the Company All Ordinary Shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s resndual assets.

Further mfonnatlon on share capital is disclosed in note 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

48 Share-based payments
Information on share-based payments is disclosed in note 28 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

49 Commitments
‘During a previous financial year the Company signed a contract to pay £200 000 (2022 £200,000) oompensatlon to a-third party once mining .
operations commenced

" 50 Related party transactions ‘
Information on related party transactions is disclosed in note 33 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

51 Post balance sheet events
Informatron on post balance sheet events is dlsclosed in note 35 to the Consolldated Financial Statements
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